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2:00PM 1 HENDERSON, NEVADA, DECEMBER 9, 2019
2
3 I
4
11:17AM 5 THE COURT: Samuel Caruso, 19FH2101X.
6 Do you wish to invoke the exclusionary
7 rule?
38 MR. HAMILTON: We do, your Honor.
9 THE COURT: The exclusionary rule has been

11:17AM 10 invoked. Anybody who has been subpoenaed to testify in

11 this case or expects to testify in this case is
12 instructed to wait outside the courtroom until you're
13 called in to testify. You are not to discuss this case
14 with anyone until this matter is concluded.

11:17AM 15 Go ahead and call your first witness.
16 MS. SCHEIBLE: Your Honor, before I do

17 that I do have an Amended Criminal Complaint to file,

18 if you will allow me.

19 THE COURT: I don't have it.
11:18AM 20 Counsel, did you get a copy of that?

21 MR. HAMILTON: I did not.

22 (At the bench discussion.)

23 THE COURT: At this point for the first

24 witness we are going to clear the courtroom except for
11:21AM 25 the witness. We instruct everyone to wait outside

RA 000004



11:21AM 1 until this witness is done testifying and we'll bring

2 you back in. Thank you.

3 Go ahead and call your first witness.

4 MS. SCHEIBLE: State calls Raquelle Rouw.
11:29AM 5 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand.

6 Do you solemnly swear that the testimony

7 that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

38 truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

9 THE WITNESS: Yes.
11:29AM 10 THE CLERK: Please be seated.
11 Please state your first and last name and

12 spell each for the record.
13 THE WITNESS: Raquelle, R-A-Q-U-E-L-L-E

14 Rouw, R-O-U-W.

11:30AM 15 THE COURT: Thank you. You may be seated
16 and speak into the microphone.
17 Go ahead, counsel.
18
19 RAQUELLE ROUW,

having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
11:30AM 20

21 DIRECT EXAMINATION

22 BY MS. SCHEIBLE:

23 Q. Miss Rouw, how old are you?
24 A. I'm 17.
11:30AM 25 Q. And when did you turn 177

RA 000005



11:30AM 1 A. August 18th —-— August 17th this year.
2 Q. And where do you live, like what city?
3 A. Las Vegas.
4 Q. Is that here in Clark County, Nevada?
11:30AM 5 A. Yes.
6 Q. Have you lived in Las Vegas your whole
7 life?
8 A. Yes.
9 Q. So all 17 years?
11:30AM 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. I want to draw your attention to
12 June 22nd of this year. Were you in Las Vegas on
13 that date?
14 A. Yes.
11:30AM 15 Q. Here in Clark County, Nevada?
16 A. Uh-huh.
17 Q. And on the 2279 what were you doing that
18 day? Just briefly.
19 A. I was hanging out with my boyfriend and
11:30AM 20 his little sister and we went to the movies.
21 Q. What's your boyfriend's name?
22 A. Daniel.
23 Q. And you guys went to the movies. Did you
24 go anywhere else that day?
11:30AM 25 A. Yeah. After we dropped her off back at

RA 000006



11:30AM 1 her house, my boyfriend's house, we went out and we

2 hung out with AJ and Justice.

3 Q. And where did you meet up with AJ and
4 Justice?
11:31AM 5 A. At the M.
6 Q. The M Casino and Resort?
7 A. Uh-huh.
38 Q. Did you go anywhere else after the M?
9 A. We went back to AJ's house.
11:31AM 10 Q. When you went to AJ's house did you see
11 anybody there who you see in the courtroom today?
12 A. Yes.
13 Q. Can you point out that person and describe
14 an article of clothing he or she is wearing?
11:31AM 15 A. He is wearing a black shirt.
16 MS. SCHEIBLE: May the record reflect the

17 identification of the defendant?

18 THE COURT: It shall.

19 BY MS. SCHEIBLE:

11:31AM 20 Q. About what time did you get to AJ's house?
21 A. Midnight.
22 Q. So was that midnight on the 215t turning

23 | into the 22095
24 A. Yes.

11:31AM 25 Q. So you went to the movies on the 215t

RA 000007
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Q.

it had become the 22nd of June?

A.

Q.

A.

Q.

you consume any alcohol at AJ's house?

A. Yes.

Q. Approximately how much?

A. From four shots and then I poured two into
my drink. So probably about six to seven shots.

Q. And do you remember what you were
drinking?

A. Hennessy.

Q. Were you drinking it all as shots?

A. No.

Q. How else were you drinking it?

A. Mixed in with pineapple Jjuice.

Q. And were you able to feel the affects of

the alcohol?

A.

Q.

Does that mean that there were some serious affects or

strong affects of the alcohol?

Yes.

And then by the time you got to AJ's house

Uh-huh.
More or less?
Yeah.

So you got there around midnight and did

Yes.

You were saying yes pretty emphatically.
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11:32AM 1 A. Yes.
2 Q. And can you describe that a little bit for

3 the Court.

4 A. I got so intoxicated I ended up throwing
11:32AM 5 up and then after that we still kept drinking.
6 Q. And eventually did you decide to go to
7 sleep?
8 A. Yes.
9 Q. Where did you go to sleep that night?
11:32AM 10 A. Downstairs on the couch with my boyfriend.
11 Q. And when you say downstairs on the couch,

12 that's in AJ's house?

13 A. Yes.
14 Q. Do you happen to know AJ's address?
11:33AM 15 A. Not by memory but I know he lives on

16 Sitting Bull Drive.

17 Q. Would 938 Sitting Bull Drive sound right?

18 A. Yes.

19 Q. About what time did you go to bed?
11:33AM 20 A. Around four in the morning.

21 Q. And how do you know that that was the

22 time?

23 A. I checked the time before I went to bed.

24 I had my phone.

11:33AM 25 Q. And when you got into bed can you describe

RA 000009



10

11:33AM 1 where you were sleeping?
2 A. I was sleeping on —-- my boyfriend took

3 most of the couch up so I slept pretty much on the

4 ottoman cuddled next to him halfway on the couch.
11:33AM 5 Q. And so can you describe the shape of the

6 couch and the ottoman.

7 A. The couch is kind of a sectional. It

38 comes forward and goes like this way. Like kind of

9 like curved and the ottoman is right in front where the

11:33AM 10 curve starts on the edge.

11 Q. So the ottoman fits into the couch?
12 A. Yes.
13 Q. And you were sleeping mostly on the
14 ottoman?
11:33AM 15 A. Yes.
16 Q. And at some point in the night were you
17 awakened?
18 A. Yes.
19 Q. By what?
11:34AM 20 A. Someone touching me.
21 Q. Someone touching you where?
22 A. On my breasts.
23 Q. Was that over your clothes or under your

24 clothes?

11:34AM 25 A. Over my clothes.
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11

11:34AM 1 Q. And did you know who that person was?
2 A. Not at first.
3 Q. At first who did you think it was?
4 A. I thought it was my boyfriend.
11:34AM 5 Q. But it sounds like it wasn't your

6 boyfriend?
7 A. No.
8 Q. How did you ultimately realize that it

9 wasn't your boyfriend?

11:34AM 10 A. Because I could hear him breathing next to
11 me in my ear.
12 Q. Can you speak up Jjust a little bit.
13 A. I'm sorry.
14 Q. It's okay. Our wonderful Court Reporter

11:34AM 15 has to write down everything you say.

16 And when you say you could hear him

17 breathing, do you mean your boyfriend?

18 A. Yes.

19 Q. And the person who was touching you at

11:34AM 20 that point, did you know who it was?

21 A. No.
22 0. Could you tell if it was a man or a woman-?
23 A. No. Honestly no.
24 Q. And was that all that happened?
11:34AM 25 A. No.
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12

11:34AM 1 Q. What happened next? Take your time.
2 A. The person who was touching me kind of
3 rolled me over and started touching my butt. And then
4 from there they started touching my breasts underneath
11:35AM 5 my clothes and they moved down. And I was wearing a
6 halter top and baggie shorts and they moved my shorts
7 out of the way and they started touching me underneath
8 my clothes.
9 Q. And so when they moved the shorts out of

11:35AM 10 the way and started touching you underneath your

11 clothes, was that over or under your panties?
12 A. Over at first.
13 Q. Approximately where on your body was this
14 person touching you on?
11:35AM 15 A. On my vagina.
16 Q. But over your panties?
17 A. Yes.
18 Q. And at this point had you figured out who

19 it was yet?

11:35AM 20 A. No.
21 Q. But that person kept touching you
22 underneath your shorts?
23 A. Yes.
24 Q. And then what?
11:36AM 25 A. And then they kept groping my breasts and
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13

11:36AM 1 eventually I figured out who it was because I opened up

2 my eyes.

3 Q. When you opened your eyes who did you see?
4 A. I saw Sam.
11:36AM 5 Q. Is that the defendant?
6 A. Yes.
7 Q. And what was he doing at that point?
38 A. Just touching me and pretty close up into
9 my face. Like maybe like a foot away. Bent over.
11:36AM 10 Q. And you were still lying on the ottoman at

11 this point?

12 A. Yes.
13 Q. And what did he do next?
14 A. He came down —-- like he moved down on my

11:36AM 15 body and he started touching my vagina underneath my
16 underwear. And then he started to penetrate me with

17 his fingers.

18 Q. When you say he penetrated you, do you
19 mean your vagina?

11:37AM 20 A. Yes.
21 Q. So he put his fingers inside your vagina?
22 A. Yes.
23 Q. And about how long did that last if you
24 know?

11:37AM 25 A. Maybe like two minutes. Not like super

RA 000013
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long.

body?

vagina?

A.

Q.

A.

And did he ever put his mouth down there?
Yes.

Where did he put his mouth?

On my vagina.

Did he use his tongue?

Yes.

How do you know that?

Because I could feel it.

And what could you feel the tongue doing?
Moving up and down.

Moving up and down on what part of your

Close to like the clitoris.

Close to the clitoris around your vagina?
Yes.

Did his tongue ever go inside your vagina?
No.

Did it go in between the lips of your

Yes.
And where were his hands at that point?

One hand was pulling my shorts out of the

way like holding them to the side and I'm assuming the

other one was on the ottoman.
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15

11:38AM 1 Q. So you could feel one hand pulling your

2 shorts out of the way?

3 A. Yes.

4 Q. And after that happened did he stay in the
11:38AM 5 same place or did he move someplace else?

6 A. Around like —-- there is no halfway point

7 but eventually like I think it was after he stopped

8 penetrating me with his fingers that he left, and I

9 don't know how long he was gone, I didn't fall back
11:38AM 10 asleep, I didn't move. I Jjust kind of stayed there

11 frozen. But eventually I heard I think -- I'm not

12 going to say anything I think.

13 Q. Okay.

14 A. Eventually he did come back. I'm not sure
11:38AM 15 if he left or not, but he came back and he put his

16 penis in my hand and he had a condom on.

17 Q. And which hand, your left or your right?
18 A. My left.
19 Q. And did you touch his penis, did you grab

11:39AM 20 his penis?

21 A. He tried to wrap my hand around it.
22 Q. And you did not want --
23 A. I had no grip. I was limp.
24 Q. What did he do from there?
11:39AM 25 A. He went back to the position he was in
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16

11:39AM 1 prior and he moved my shorts and he tried to perform
2 oral sex on me again and then he tried to put his penis
3 inside of me.
4 Q. And when he tried to put his penis inside
11:39AM 5 of you, was the condom still on?
6 A. Yes.
7 Q. And where was he trying to put it?
38 A. In my vagina.
9 Q. And could you feel him trying to do that?
11:39AM 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. And you keep saying the word try. Did his
12 penis go inside your vagina?
13 A. No because I wasn't like wet.
14 Q. How could you tell he was trying-?
11:40AM 15 A. The pressure. Like the force that was

16 going into it.

17 Q. So you could feel pressure. Was that
18 pressure pushing inwards?
19 A. Yes.
11:40AM 20 Q. And was he using anything other than his

21 penis?

22 A. No.
23 Q. And about how long did he try to do that?
24 A. Thirty seconds.

11:40AM 25 Q. And how did that feel? Just pressure?

RA 000016
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A.
Q.
around your genitals?
A.
Q.
some point pushing his penis into your vagina?
A.
Q.
A.
to like the front of me where my head was and he tried

to put his penis in my mouth.

Q. And how did he do that?
A. He came like pretty close and he tried
to —— he was probably squatting down and he tried to

like jiggle my mouth open to put it in.
Q.

A.

mouth?

(No oral response.)
You're nodding your head?
Yes.

And at any point did he move his penis

I don't know.

And is it fair to say that he stopped at

Yes.
And what did he do then?

Let go of my shorts and he walked around

Did you open your mouth?
Yes.

And did he put his penis inside your

Yes.
And how long did he leave it there?
No more than like 20 seconds.

And at that point was he still wearing the

RA 000017
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11:41AM 1 condom or not?
2 A. I believe so.
3 Q. Could you taste it?
4 A. Yes.
11:41AM 5 Q. Or feel it?
6 A. Uh-huh.
7 MS. SCHEIBLE: Brief indulgence, your
8 Honor?
9 THE COURT: Yes.

11:42AM 10 BY MS. SCHEIBLE:
11 Q. Was that the first time that you met the
12 defendant?
13 A. Yes.
14 Q. And was he there when you were consuming

11:42AM 15 the alcohol?

16 A. Uh-huh.
17 THE COURT: Was that a yes?
18 THE WITNESS: Yes.

19 BY MS. SCHEIBLE:

11:43AM 20 Q. At any point did you want to have sex with
21 him?
22 A. No.
23 Q. When he first started touching you
24 downstairs were you still under the influence of the

11:43AM 25 alcohol?
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19

11:43AM 1 A. Yes.

2 Q. And what was your response? Like

3 emotionally if you will.

4 A. I was like terrified.
11:43AM 5 Q. Did you say you were terrified?

6 A. Yes.

7 Q. Do you have a normal fight or flight or

8 freeze response?

9 A. Yes.
11:43AM 10 Q. And which one did you do on this day?

11 A. Freeze.

12 Q. And was there anything going through your

13 head?

14 A. Nothing really. I was Jjust numb.
11:43AM 15 Q. And did you become numb immediately when

16 this started?
17 A. I think once I realized like what was
18 going on, yeah.
19 Q. And how long did you stay numb?
11:44AM 20 A. Until I got up in the morning and I saw

21 people were coming downstairs.

22 MS. SCHEIBLE: Court's indulgence.

23 I have nothing further for this witness.
24 THE COURT: Counsel.

25

RA 000019



20

1 CROSS-EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. HAMILTON:

3 Q. Miss Rouw, my name is Ryan Hamilton. I
4 represent the defendant Samuel Caruso. How do you
11:45AM 5 prefer that I address you, Raquelle or Miss Rouw?
6 A. Miss Rouw.
7 Q. Miss Rouw, when this incident occurred —-—
38 and when I say incident I'm referring to when you were
9 being touched -- it was dark in the room?
11:45AM 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. And you said that you had gone to sleep

12 around four. Do I have that right?

13 A. (No oral response.)
14 Q. Is that a yes?
11:45AM 15 A. Yes.
16 Q. I'm just trying to be helpful to our Court

17 Reporter. Thank you.

18 And you had given an interview to

19 Detectives Ashcroft and Viscaino. Do you recall giving
11:45AM 20 that interview?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. Do you recall telling the detectives that

23 the person who touched you had really light colored

24 eyes”?

11:46AM 25 A. Uh-huh.
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11:46AM 1 Q. Is that a yes?

2 A. Yes.

3 Q. And you had told them that you barely

4 opened your eyes throughout the incident; is that
11:46AM 5 correct?

6 A. Yes.

7 Q. And in fact you told them that you

8 couldn't really see the texture or color of the

9 person's hair; is that correct?
11:46AM 10 MS. DERJAVINA: At this point the State

11 would object. Hearsay statements. At this point I'm

12 not sure what he's doing with the statement, whether

13 he's impeaching her testimony because at this point she

14 hasn't testified contrary to her statement. So if he
11:46AM 15 wants to ask her questions was it dark, could you see,

16 that's fine, but at this point going through her

17 statement would be inappropriate. It's not impeaching
18 anything she said at this point.

19 MR. HAMILTON: Judge, may be I be heard on

11:46AM 20 that?

21 THE COURT: Yes.
22 MR. HAMILTON: Judge, I believe it is
23 within the scope of direct because she had identified

24 my client as the perpetrator and this all goes to

11:47AM 25 whether or not —-
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22

11:47AM 1 THE COURT: I believe it's permissible at

2 this point based on the direct examination.

3 MS. DERJAVINA: Based on is he trying to

4 impeach her at this point because she hasn't testified
11:47AM 5 to the contrary? The appropriate thing would be —-

6 THE COURT: He hasn't tried to impeach her

7 yet.

38 MS. DERJAVINA: But he's doing that with

9 her statement. That's the whole issue.
11:47AM 10 THE COURT: Well, she hasn't said that she

11 can't remember and I don't see a point in -- do you

12 want him to show her the document?

13 MS. DERJAVINA: I'm saying that -—-

14 THE COURT: I will allow the questions.

11:47AM 15 What is it that you think there's not enough
16 foundation?
17 MS. DERJAVINA: I think the way that he is
18 questioning he is going through her statement right
19 now. The proper way to do it is to ask her was it
11:47AM 20 dark, could you see him, you barely opened your eyes
21 and if she testifies contrary, he can go through her

22 statement.

23 THE COURT: Well, she hasn't said anything
24 contrary. No, I will allow it.
11:47AM 25 MS. DERJAVINA: Well, my objection stands,
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23

11:48AM 1 your Honor.
2 THE COURT: Okay. It's overruled.
3 Go ahead.
4 MR. HAMILTON: Thank you, Judge.
11:48AM 5 Q. Going back, Miss Rouw, you indicated to
6 detectives that because you had barely opened your eyes
7 you didn't notice any tattoos?
8 THE COURT: I think the correct form would

9 be did you, not you did.

11:48AM 10 BY MR. HAMILTON:

11 Q. Did you, Miss Rouw, during the incident
12 notice any tattoos on or around the defendant's face?
13 A. No. And no piercings.

14 Q. Was it completely dark in the room or was

11:49AM 15 there any light?
16 A. There was a light. I remember in my

17 statement specifically I stated there was a red I think

18 I said or green light that was coming from the gaming
19 console. So no, the room was not pitch black.
11:49AM 20 Q. Miss Rouw, is that the only source of

21 | 1ight?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q. Did you have any conversation with the

24 person who was touching you during the incident?
11:49AM 25 A. No.
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11:49AM 1 Q. Did you believe the person who had touched
2 you to have been Hispanic?
3 A. No.
4 Q. You never made a statement to any police
11:50AM 5 officer that you believe the person who touched you was
6 Hispanic?
7 A. No.
8 Q. Did you see the person's entire face
9 during the incident?
11:50AM 10 A. Not specifics, no.
11 Q. Did you see the person's neck during the
12 incident?
13 A. No.
14 Q. During the incident were there any
11:50AM 15 defining features of the person who was touching you?
16 A. No.
17 Q. Any distinctive smell coming from the
18 person?
19 A. Alcohol.
11:51AM 20 Q. When the incident began were you
21 physically touching your boyfriend who was on the
22 couch?
23 A. His arm was under my neck but I wasn't
24 touching him. But he was touching me.
11:51AM 25 Q. At some point during the incident does
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11:51AM 1 your boyfriend's arm get moved out from under your
2 neck?
3 A. Yes.
4 Q. How did that happen?
11:51AM 5 A. I think there was less of his arm getting

6 moved than me getting pulled.

7 Q. At any point during the incident did you
38 try to awaken your boyfriend?
9 A. Telepathically. But no, I didn't

11:52AM 10 physically try to move him or wake him up.

11 Q. Did you ever become aware of him being
12 awake during the incident?

13 A. No.

14 Q. And I wrote down that you testified that

11:52AM 15 you went to sleep around 4:00 a.m. Do I have that

16 correct?
17 A. Uh-huh.
18 Q. And that's a yes?
19 A. Yes.
11:52AM 20 Q. Do you know what time the touching began-?
21 A. No.
22 Q. Is there anything that could refresh your
23 recollection as to when you believe the touching began?
24 A. AJ's little brother that day, I doubt he
11:53AM 25 remembers, but he came downstairs after taking a shower
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11:53AM 1 and he was the first one downstairs and that was

2 probably around the time I woke up.

3 Q. With that information does that give you

4 any reference point as to when the touching began and
11:53AM 5 ended?

6 A. Before the sun was up.

7 Q. Just to clarify is it your testimony that

38 the entire incident from beginning to end occurred

9 before the sun was up?
11:53AM 10 A. Beginning —-- it started when the sun was
11 up —— I mean before the sun came up. I'm not sure when

12 it ended.

13 Q. You heard a shower running during the
14 incident?

11:54AM 15 A. Towards the end, yeah.
16 THE COURT: I'm sorry. I couldn't hear

17 that. What?

18 THE WITNESS: Towards the end.

19 BY MR. HAMILTON:

11:54AM 20 Q. And just a minute ago you indicated that
21 you believed was it Alex that had taken a shower?
22 A. AJ's little brother. I'm assuming it was
23 him.
24 Q. You think he's the one that took the

11:54AM 25 shower during the incident?
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11:54AM 1 A. Yes.
2 Q. So 1f he were to give an estimate for the
3 time of that shower —-
4 MS. SCHEIBLE: Objection, your Honor.
11:54AM 5 Speculation.
6 THE COURT: Sustained.

7 BY MR. HAMILTON:
38 Q. I want to make sure I understand your
9 testimony on this point. Is it your testimony that the

11:55AM 10 defendant had unbuttoned your belt?

11 MS. SCHEIBLE: Objection, your Honor. I
12 don't think —-- she didn't testify on that point either
13 way .

14 THE COURT: I'm sorry. What was the

11:55AM 15 question again?
16 MR. HAMILTON: Whether or not she is

17 saying that the defendant had unbuttoned her belt.

18 THE COURT: I will sustain that objection.

19 That was not asked. You can ask it a different way.
11:55AM 20 MR. HAMILTON: Sure.

21 0. You testified that the defendant had moved

22 your shorts down your body?

23 A. No. I never said that he moved them down.

24 He moved them to the side.

11:55AM 25 Q. He just moved them to the side?
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11:55AM 1 A. That's what I said in my statement.
2 Q. Thank you for the clarification.
3 A. You're welcome.
4 Q. You said that you threw up?
11:56AM 5 A. Yes.
6 Q. Was that at the beginning of the night,

7 was that toward the end of the night when you fell
38 asleep?
9 A. That was towards the beginning of the

11:56AM 10 night.

11 Q. Are you able to estimate how drunk you

12 were at the time you went to sleep? Ten being so drunk

13 unconscious, one being I've Jjust had a sip of alcohol?

14 MS. SCHEIBLE: Objection, your Honor.
11:56AM 15 She's not an expert on intoxication levels and it

16 sounds like he's asking her to make an expert level

17 assessment using a numerical scale.

18 THE COURT: I will sustain that objection.

19 You need to be more specific, counsel.

11:56AM 20 BY MR. HAMILTON:

21 Q. Let me just ask it this way: How
22 intoxicated were you just before going to sleep?
23 A. I was —— my body was physically drunk and
24 I mentally wasn't cognizant.
11:57AM 25 Q. Were you able to complete tasks such as
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11:57AM 1 cleaning up?
2 A. No.
3 Q. Okay. You testified that the defendant

4 left during the touching incident. Do you recall that?

11:57AM 5 A. Yes.
6 Q. How long did the defendant leave?
7 A. Anywhere from like five to 10 minutes.

9 Q. And during that time did you remain awake?
11:58AM 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. During that time you did not try to awaken

12 your boyfriend?
13 A. No.
14 Q. You woke up the next day and stayed around

11:58AM 15 it's AJ's house, correct?

16 A. Uh-huh. Yes.

17 Q. And in fact you had lunch with the

18 defendant present; is that correct?

19 A. When we were eating he wasn't there but he

11:58AM 20 was at the house, yes.
21 Q. Did you stay longer at the house to watch
22 a UFC game?
23 A. That was prior to us eating lunch.
24 Q. And approximately at what time during the

11:59AM 25 day did you leave?
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11:59AM 1 MS. SCHEIBLE: Objection, your Honor.
2 Relevance.
3 THE COURT: I will allow it.
4 THE WITNESS: 3:00 p.m.
11:59AM 5 BY MR. HAMILTON:
6 Q. 3:00 p.m.?
7 A. Yes. Around there.
38 MR. HAMILTON: Court's indulgence.
9 THE COURT: Okay.

12:00PM 10 BY MR. HAMILTON:

11 Q. This couch and ottoman where you say the

12 touching occurred, it's near the front door of the

13 home?

14 A. It's in the front room of the home.
12:00PM 15 Q. Let me ask you this. How did you

16 communicate that you did not consent to any of the

17 touching that occurred?

18 A. I didn't say yes.

19 MR. HAMILTON: 1I'll pass the witness.

12:01PM 20 Thank you, your Honor.
21 THE COURT: Thank you.
22
23
24

12:01PM 25
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12:01pPM 1 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

2 BY MS. SCHEIBLE:

3 0. Miss Rouw, when you went over to AJ's

4 house was this the first time you'd been there?
12:01PM 5 A. No.

6 Q. How many times have you been there?

7 A. Once, maybe twice just stopping by. But

38 I'd only gone over there once before.

9 Q. Do you know who lives at AJ's house?
12:01PM 10 A. I know his parents live there. I knew AJ

11 lives there. I knew he had a little brother but that
12 was pretty much it. I also met his sister once before
13 I went there.

14 Q. And when you got there early on in the

12:01PM 15 morning on the 22nd, who was in the house?

16 A. Who was awake or who was in the house?
17 Q. Who was in the house?
18 A. I didn't know at the time when I got
19 there. I just saw who was awake.
12:02PM 20 Q. Who did you see who was awake at the
21 house?
22 A. Sam, Alexis, obviously me, AJ, Daniel and
23 Justice and then their daughters, Alexis and Sam's

24 children.

12:02PM 25 Q. And how old are the daughters

RA 000031



32

12:02PM 1 approximately?
2 A. Three.
3 0. So little kids?
4 A. They're very little, vyes.
12:02PM 5 Q. And how old if you know are AJ and Daniel?
6 A. AJ and Daniel are both 18 and Justice

7 recently turn 19.
38 Q. When you ultimately got up the next
9 morning were you initially planning on telling your

12:03PM 10 boyfriend what happened?

11 A. No.

12 MS. SCHEIBLE: I have nothing further.
13 THE COURT: Anything else?

14 MR. HAMILTON: Nothing further, your

12:03PM 15 Honor.

16 THE COURT: Thank you, ma'am. You're

17 excused.

18 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

19 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand.
12:03PM 20 Do you solemnly swear that the testimony

21 that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

22 truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

23 THE WITNESS: Yes.
24 THE CLERK: Please be seated.
12:03PM 25 Please state your first and last name and
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12:03PM 1 spell each for the record.
2 THE WITNESS: L-I-A-N A, Liana

3 R-I-V-E-R-A, Rivera.

4
12:06PM 5 LIANA RIVERA,
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
6
7 DIRECT EXAMINATION

8 BY MS. SCHEIBLE:

9 Q. Ms. Rivera, what city do you live in?
12:06PM 10 A. Youngstown, Ohio.
11 Q. And how long have you been living there?
12 A. About a year.
13 Q. I want to direct your attention to

14 August 14th of 2019. Were you here in Clark County,

12:06PM 15 Nevada on that date?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Do you remember where you were staying?
18 A. At the Hard Rock Casino.

19 Q. And when you got to the Hard Rock Casino

12:06PM 20 were you there by yourself or with other people?

21 A. I was with other people.

22 Q. How many other people?

23 A. Three others.

24 Q. And are these friends of yours?
12:06PM 25 A. Co-workers.
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12:06PM 1 Q. And what were you guys doing on

2 August 14th?

3 A. We were relaxing in the hotel room just

4 enjoying our day off. Later that evening we decided to
12:06PM 5 go get a bottle from the liquor store across the street

6 and then we came back and we were drinking at the

7 hotel.

8 Q. And so you were consuming alcohol in the

9 hotel room?

12:07PM 10 A. Correct.
11 Q. About how much did you have to drink if
12 you remember?
13 A. From what I remember three shots.
14 Q. And were you able to feel the effects of

12:07PM 15 the alcohol?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Did you become inebriated?

18 A. Yeah. I was incoherent like before I left
19 the room. I don't remember leaving the room. I don't

12:07PM 20 remember leaving the hotel.
21 Q. But it sounds like you've since learned

22 you did leave the hotel that night?

23 A. Yes.
24 Q. So the last thing you do remember is what?
12:07PM 25 A. Taking shots and getting ready.
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12:07PM 1 Q. And that was in your room at the Hard

2 Rock?

3 A. Yes.

4 Q. While you guys were there were you talking
12:07PM 5 about what your plan was for the evening?

6 A. Yeah. They said they wanted to go to a

7 club. I don't remember what club they wanted to go to
8 but they wanted to go to the club.
9 0. And do you have memories from that night

12:07PM 10 that are hazy or clear or a combination of both?

11 A. The only thing that I really remember
12 after taking shots was being in an elevator and falling
13 over and then being in my hotel room. I don't remember
14 anything in between.
12:08PM 15 Q. So do you remember what time you were
16 drinking in the hotel room?
17 A. No.
18 Q. And I think you already testified that you
19 don't remember leaving the hotel room?
12:08PM 20 A. No.
21 Q. Do you remember getting into a Lyft?
22 A. No.
23 Q. Do you remember becoming sick?
24 A. No.
12:08PM 25 Q. Do you remember going with your friends to
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another location, another casino?

A. No.

Q. Do you remember getting a Lyft back to the
hotel?

A No

Q. Do you remember getting back up to your
room?

A. No.

Q. Do you remember going into your room?

A. I remember being in my room, not going

into the room.

Q. Do you remember getting into your bed?

A. No.

Q. You said that you remember being in an
elevator?

A. Yes.

Q. What do you remember about being in the
elevator?

A. I just literally remember falling over. I

remember seeing a man next to me and falling over but I
don't remember what the man looked like and it pretty
much goes black after that.

Q. You had previously testified that you did
remember being back in your room at some point?

A. Yes.
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12:10PM 1 Q. When you got into your room do you
2 remember being pushed down?
3 A. Correct.
4 Q. And what else do you remember?
12:10PM 5 A. I remember being pushed down and my pants

6 being pulled off. I was on my period. I had a tampon

7 in. I remember my tampon being pulled out. I remember
8 turning over. I remember being in pain. I don't
9 remember what specifically happened. I just remember

12:10PM 10 saying stop, I don't want to and I don't remember

11 anything after that.

12 Q. You said you remember being in pain. Do
13 you remember where that pain was?
14 A. Yeah. Anal.
12:11PM 15 Q. And did it come on suddenly?
16 A. Yes.
17 Q. Did it feel like somebody was penetrating

18 you anally?

19 A. Correct. Or trying, yeah.

12:11PM 20 Q. And did that pain persist?
21 A. No. I don't really remember it to be
22 honest. It was so fast and I just remember being in

23 pain and saying no and stop and I don't remember
24 anything after that.

12:11PM 25 Q. Do you remember eventually falling asleep?
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12:11PM 1 A. No.
2 Q. Do you remember eventually being asleep?
3 A. No.
4 Q. Do you remember being awakened?
12:12PM 5 A. Yes.
6 Q. How were you awakened?
7 A. The girls were knocking at the door at six
8 o'clock in the morning and I woke up naked.
9 Q. And how were you feeling when you woke up?
12:12PM 10 A. Sick. Nauseous.
11 Q. Were you still in pain?
12 A. I didn't recognize the pain when I woke

13 up. I didn't recognize it until I used the bathroom.
14 Q. What happened when you went to the

12:12PM 15 bathroom?

16 A. I went to use the restroom, just went to
17 go pee and it just —— I felt discomfort. It was like
18 unusual for me to feel discomfort there. So I don't

19 know, something felt off. I Jjust kind of started
12:12PM 20 shaking and I came out of the bathroom not

21 understanding why I was in pain, why I was hurting.

22 Q. When you say you were in pain, are we

23 still talking about your anus?

24 A. Yes.

12:13PM 25 Q. And when you say that something felt off,
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12:13PM 1 can you be a little bit more specific?
2 A. No because it was just an intuitive

3 feeling.

4 Q. Okay.
12:13PM 5 A. Outside of the discomfort that I felt.
6 Q. So there was both the physical pain or
7 discomfort and then the intuitive feeling that
38 something was off?
9 A. Yeah. I Jjust felt sick to my stomach and

12:13PM 10 it just felt off, something didn't feel right. I was

11 naked, I didn't have a tampon. When I used the

12 bathroom I was in discomfort.

13 Q. So I want to take a few steps back to when

14 you said that you remembered being pushed down in your
12:14PM 15 room and you remember being turned over and feeling

16 pain. Do you remember seeing anybody else there?

17 A. Yes. I saw him. It was a quick glimpse
18 of his face and his hair, his chest, his penis.
19 Q. So you saw a man there in your room?
12:14PM 20 A. Yes.
21 Q. And was it somebody who you knew?
22 A. No.
23 Q. Was it somebody that you had agreed to
24 have sex with?
12:14PM 25 A. No. And his face, that's the first
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12:14PM 1 recognition of memory that I have of seeing his face.
2 I have no memory of seeing his face prior to that.
3 Q. And have you seen his face since then?
4 A. Besides right now, no.
12:15PM 5 Q. Do you see him right now?
6 A. Yes. He doesn't have hair anymore.
7 Q. Can you point to him and identify an
38 article of clothing he's wearing.
9 A. Yes. He's wearing I think that's like a

12:15PM 10 navy blue shirt, tattoos.
11 MS. SCHEIBLE: May the record reflect
12 identification of the defendant?
13 THE COURT: Yes.
14 BY MS. SCHEIBLE:
12:15PM 15 Q. So this is the person that you saw in your
16 room that night?
17 A. Yes. His face. The only thing that's
18 different is the hair.
19 Q. And when you saw his face where was his
12:15PM 20 face in relation to yours?
21 A. I was down low, he was standing up tall.
22 So it was like I was looking up at him. It was quick.
23 That's all I remember.
24 Q. So the next day or hours later when you

12:16PM 25 actually woke up did you think what had happened was a
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12:16PM 1 dream?
2 A. Yes.
3 Q. And thinking that it was a dream what did

4 you do?

12:16PM 5 A. I went downstairs to talk to security. I
6 asked them to check the footage to see if they saw
7 someone come into my room after me. They advised that
38 they were going to call the police to notify the police

9 but I advised them not to, I didn't want to like affect

12:16PM 10 someone's career or life if I wasn't sure. I just
11 wanted to know if someone came into my room after me.
12 And then I went back up to my room and
13 security and management came up to the room, at that
14 point advised it was a crime scene and showed him

12:17PM 15 clocked in my room for 25 minutes.
16 Q. And did you leave at that point?
17 A. No. Well, after I spoke with the EMTs
18 then yes, I did leave right at that point. They took

19 me to the hospital and I did a rape kit.

12:17PM 20 MS. SCHEIBLE: I have nothing further,
21 your Honor.
22 THE COURT: Counsel.
23
24

12:17pPM 25
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1 CROSS-EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. HAMILTON:

3 0. Ms. Rivera, I represent the defendant
4 Samuel Caruso. Miss Rivera, did you invite Mr. Caruso
12:18PM 5 up to your room?
6 A. No.
7 Q. Were you able to recall your room number?
8 A. No.
9 Q. How were you able to get to your room?
12:18PM 10 A. I don't remember.
11 Q. Once inside your room, Ms. Rivera, do you
12 actually recall engaging or any sexual activity between

13 you and the defendant?
14 A. No. Just besides what I remember of what

12:18PM 15 I advised to the plaintiff.

16 Q. But no actual sexual activity?
17 A. No.
18 Q. And you testified that your anus hurt in
19 the morning; is that fair?
12:19PM 20 A. Correct.
21 Q. But you don't know one way or the other
22 whether your anus hurt because of some sexual activity,
23 correct?
24 A. Correct.
12:19PM 25 Q. Ms. Rivera, are you able to recall one way
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12:19PM 1 or another whether Mr. Caruso was actually able to get

2 an erection that night?

3 A. I don't recall.

4 Q. Would it surprise you if he were unable to
12:20PM 5 get an erection that night?

6 MS. SCHEIBLE: Objection, your Honor.

7 Calls for speculation.

38 THE COURT: Well, I'll allow the question.

9 Would it surprise her? It doesn't sound like she even

12:20PM 10 knows if he did.

11 MS. SCHEIBLE: I'm not sure of the
12 relevance either.
13 THE COURT: 1I'll sustain the objection.

14 BY MR. HAMILTON:
12:20PM 15 Q. Did you tell Mr. Caruso that it was okay

16 he could not get an erection because you normally date

17 females?

18 MS. SCHEIBLE: Objection, your Honor.

19 She's already indicated that she doesn't remember.
12:21PM 20 THE COURT: I think you have to ask if she

21 remembers, not if she told. I agree with the State as

22 to the question. I will sustain it.

23 BY MR. HAMILTON:
24 Q. Do you remember telling Mr. Caruso at any

12:21PM 25 point that you normally date females?
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12:21PM 1 A. No.
2 MR. HAMILTON: Nothing further, your
3 Honor.
4 THE COURT: Thank you.
12:21PM 5 Anything else, counsel?
6 MS. SCHEIBLE: I just have a couple things

7 I wanted to clarify.

9 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

12:21PM 10 BY MS. SCHEIBLE:

11 Q. So when you went up to your room that
12 night —-- let's go back before that. Before you went up
13 into your room and remember being pushed on the bed and
14 turned over did you have any pain in your anus-?
12:22PM 15 A. No.
16 0. So it started then?
17 A. Yes.
18 Q. And persisted into the morning-?
19 A. Correct.
12:22PM 20 Q. And you didn't put anything in your own
21 anus?
22 A. No.
23 MS. SCHEIBLE: Nothing further.
24 THE COURT: Thank you.
12:22PM 25 Anything else, counsel?
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12:22PM 1 MR. HAMILTON: No, Judge.

2 THE COURT: Thank you, ma'am. You are

3 excused.

4 MS. DERJAVINA: The State calls Detective
12:24PM 5 Nogle.

6 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand.

7 Do you solemnly swear that the testimony

38 that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

9 truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

10:29AM 10 THE WITNESS: Yes.
11 THE CLERK: Please be seated.
12 Please state your first and last name and

13 spell each for the record.
14 THE WITNESS: My first name is Erica.

12:25PM 15 It's spelled E-R-I-C-A. Last name is Nogle, N-O-G-L-E.

16 THE COURT: Go ahead, counsel.

17 MS. DERJAVINA: Thank you, Your Honor.
18

19 ERICA NOGLE,

having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
12:25PM 20

21 DIRECT EXAMINATION

22 BY MS. DERJAVINA:

23 Q. Ma'am, how are you employed?
24 A. I'm employed with Las Vegas Metropolitan
12:25PM 25 Police Department sex crimes unit.
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Q. And how long have you worked in that
capacity?

A. There in sex crimes for one year.

Q. And how long with Metro in general?

A. Thirteen years.

Q. I want to direct your attention

4th, 2019. Were you assigned

specifically to August 1
to investigate a potential sexual assault that had
occurred at 4455 Paradise Road?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. And was that in your capacity as a

detective in the sex crimes unit?

A. Yes, that's right.

0. Now, is the 4455 address the Hard Rock
Hotel?

A. Yes, that's right.

Q. Is that here in Clark County?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. As part of your investigation were you

given information about a potential suspect in the
sexual assault?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. And was one of the things you were given
is that he's potentially a Lyft driver?

A. Yes.
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12:26PM 1 Q. Were you told that the victim in the case

2 her name is Liana?

3 A. That's correct.

4 Q. And that she was put in a Lyft vehicle by
12:26PM 5 her friends?

6 A. Yes. To some degree. She was in the

7 vehicle with her friends at one point in time.

38 Q. Let's back up a little bit. I don't want

9 to jump. Were you told that it was Liana who ordered

12:26PM 10 the Lyft or her friends?

11 A. No. It was one of her friends.

12 Q. And then as part of your investigation did

13 her friends actually show you a screen shot of the Lyft

14 account that had ordered that car and the driver of
12:27PM 15 that car?

16 A. Yes, that's right.

17 MS. DERJAVINA: Your Honor, may I

18 approach?

19 THE COURT: You may.
12:27PM 20 MS. DERJAVINA: For the record I'm showing

21 defense counsel State's Proposed Exhibit 1.

22 THE COURT: Okay.

23 BY MS. DERJAVINA:

24 Q. Detective, I'm going to show you State's

12:27PM 25 Proposed Exhibit 1. If you could take a second. Do
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12:27PM 1 you recognize that?

2 A. Yes, I do.

3 Q. And how do you recognize that?

4 A. This was —-—- it was on the Lyft app that
12:27PM 5 was on Miss Liana's friend's phone. The friend that

6 ordered it I believe was Daja Smith. So Miss Daja

7 Smith during the interview provided her phone with the

38 proof as far as what Lyft they had taken from where and

9 final destination.
12:27PM 10 Q. And is it a fair and accurate photograph
11 of that screen shot?
12 A. Yes, it is.
13 MS. DERJAVINA: Your Honor, at this time

14 the State would move to admit State's Proposed Exhibit

12:27PM 15 1.

16 MR. HAMILTON: No objection.

17 THE COURT: It will be admitted.

18 (State's Exhibit 1 was admitted.)

19 MS. DERJAVINA: May I approach, your

12:27PM 20 Honor, to show it to you?
21 THE COURT: Yes.
22 BY MS. DERJAVINA:
23 Q. Now, detective, were you informed as part
24 of your investigation that the friend had actually put

12:28PM 25 the victim in that Lyft to take her back to the hotel
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12:28PM 1 because she was intoxicated?
2 A. Can you repeat the question.
3 Q. As part of your investigation were you

4 informed by the friends that they had actually put the

12:28PM 5 victim Liana into that Lyft to be taken back to the
6 hotel because she was intoxicated?
7 A. Yes, that's right.
38 Q. Once you got that information and you got

9 that screen shot, and in it for the record we can see

12:28PM 10 it says, "Thanks for riding with Samuel," did you

11 obtain information about who that Lyft driver was, his

12 identity?

13 A. Yes, I did.

14 Q. And what was his identity? What was his
12:28PM 15 name?

16 A. Samuel Josiah Caruso and I don't recall

17 date of birth.

18 Q. If I show you your police report would
19 that refresh your recollection?

12:28PM 20 A. Yes.
21 MS. DERJAVINA: May I approach, your
22 Honor?
23 THE COURT: You may.

24 BY MS. DERJAVINA:

12:28PM 25 Q. Detective, if you can just take a second
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12:29PM 1 to look at this yourself and let me know when you're

2 done looking at it.

3 A. Yes.

4 Q. Looking at that did that refresh your
12:29PM 5 recollection?

6 A. Yes.

7 Q. And what was his date of birth-?

38 A. It is October Sth of 1986.

9 Q. Now, as part of your investigation did you

12:29PM 10 pull surveillance video from the Hard Rock?

11 A. Yes, I did.
12 Q. Were you able to see Mr. Caruso and the
13 victim?
14 A. Yes, 1 was.

12:29PM 15 Q. Were you also able to see the vehicle as
16 it arrived?
17 A. Yes.
18 Q. Were you able to pull the license plate?
19 A. Yes.

12:29PM 20 Q. And who did the license plate come back
21 to?
22 A. When I ran the plate the sole registered
23 owner was a Samuel Caruso.
24 Q. As part of your investigation did you try

12:29PM 25 to make contact with Mr. Caruso?
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12:29PM 1 A. Yes, I did.

2 Q. And did you have a potential phone number?

3 A. I first had an address and then later

4 acquired a phone number for him.
12:29PM 5 Q. And did you go to that address?

6 A. I did.

7 Q. Did you make contact with the family

8 members?

9 A. Yes, I did, that's correct.
12:29PM 10 Q. Was he there at that point?

11 A. He was not.

12 Q. And you said as part of your investigation

13 you were able to obtain a phone number for Mr. Caruso.

14 Did you call that number?

12:30PM 15 A. Yes, I did.
16 Q. Did you leave a voice mail-?
17 A. I did.
18 Q. And at some point did Mr. Caruso call
19 back?
12:30PM 20 A. Yes, he did.
21 Q. Did he identify who he was?
22 A. Yes, he did.
23 0. Initially when you talked to him what did
24 he think that you were calling in regards to?
12:30PM 25 A. I introduced myself and he initially
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12:30PM 1 thought that I was calling about the Henderson case is

2 what he said.

3 Q. So he thought you were calling regarding
4 something that happened in Henderson?

12:30PM 5 A. Correct.
6 Q. Did you inform him that you were calling
7 regarding a passenger in his Lyft?
8 A. Yes, that's correct.
9 Q. Now, at this point did you read him his

12:30PM 10 Miranda Rights?
11 A. No, I did not. I informed him of the
12 allegation that was made by the occupant of the Lyft
13 during the course of his duties as a driver.
14 Q. And what was the purpose initially of this

12:30PM 15 telephone conversation?

16 A. It was just to get an interview with him.
17 Q. So you were going to ask him to come in to
18 ask him questions?

19 A. That's correct. Or we'd go to him.

12:31PM 20 Whichever.

21 Q. Basically set up a meeting-?
22 A. Correct.
23 Q. But you did inform him kind of what the
24 allegations were?
12:31PM 25 A. Yes.
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12:31PM 1 Q. And when you informed him of what the
2 allegations were what was his response?
3 A. So Mr. Caruso made some utterances. He
4 initially said something to the effect of oh, man,
12:31PM 5 Liana —-- so he identified her by her first name —- I
6 should have had security take her to her room is what

7 he uttered.

8 Q. And then did he mention about having any
9 kind of sexual contact with Liana?
12:31PM 10 A. Yes. Mutual oral sex was the way he

11 described it.

12 Q. So by mutual basically he had oral sex on
13 her and then she had oral sex on him?
14 A. Consenting, yes.
12:31PM 15 Q. But he said that that was consensual?
16 A. Mutual oral sex so I imagine they gave
17 each other oral sex and would be consenting.
18 Q. That's what you assumed. Okay.
19 A. Correct.
12:32PM 20 Q. Detective, obviously being that you're a
21 detective in the sex crimes you're familiar with
22 different sexual acts?
23 A. Yes.
24 Q. When somebody says oral sex, so a male
12:32PM 25 giving oral sex to a female, what does that mean?
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12:32PM 1 A. Well, it would be cunnilingus.
2 Q. And then what does cunnilingus mean?

3 Usually what body part of a male touches what body part

4 of a female?
12:33PM 5 A. It's penetration nonetheless, however
6 slight, with the male inserting his tongue into the
7 female's wvagina.
8 Q. So it would be the male which is in this
9 case the defendant placing his mouth or tongue on the

12:33PM 10 genital opening of the female?

11 A. That's correct.

12 Q. What about if it's a female on a male

13 giving oral sex?

14 A. The male inserting penis into the mouth of

12:33PM 15 the female and her sucking the penis of the male.
16 0. So basically what it is is a male which in

17 this case would be the defendant, if you're saying it

18 was mutual oral sex it would be placing his penis in
19 the victim's mouth?
12:33PM 20 A. Correct.
21 MS. DERJAVINA: Nothing further, your
22 Honor.
23 THE COURT: Thank you.
24 Counsel.
25
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1 CROSS-EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. HAMILTON:

3 Q. Detective Nogle?
4 A. Yes.
12:33PM 5 Q. When you spoke to Mr. Caruso he indicated

6 to you that Liana had in fact -—-
7 MS. DERJAVINA: Objection. Hearsay. The
38 defendant's statement not being admitted by a party

9 opponent.

12:34PM 10 THE COURT: I think you already asked
11 that.
12 MS. DERJAVINA: Well, I think he's going

13 into more than I had asked.

14 THE COURT: Let's hear the question.
12:34PM 15 MS. DERJAVINA: And I apologize if I

16 Jjumped. I Jjust knew where he was going to go.

17 MR. HAMILTON: Kudos on your reflexes.

18 THE COURT: I can't remember what the

19 question was.

12:34PM 20 BY MR. HAMILTON:

21 Q. Mr. Caruso had indicated to you in your
22 conversation that any touching between the two parties
23 was consensual; 1s that fair?

24 A. He said they had mutual oral sex. So

12:34PM 25 outside of that. So he did utter that check the
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12:34PM 1 camera.
2 MS. DERJAVINA: And objection at this
3 point. That's not his question. His question is
4 whether he said it was consensual.

12:35PM 5 THE COURT: Ask another question. The
6 question was whether there was consensual touching.

7 BY MR. HAMILTON:

38 Q. Did he at any point ask you to check the
9 camera?
12:35PM 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. Can you tell us more about that exchange
12 about him asking you to check the cameras?
13 MS. DERJAVINA: And I don't mean to

14 interrupt. At this point I would object. Any kind of
12:35PM 15 conversation with the defendant at this point would be

16 hearsay. I didn't elicit anything about their

17 conversation.

18 THE COURT: I will overrule that.

19 BY MR. HAMILTON:

12:35PM 20 Q. Go ahead.
21 A. He specified the location in this case,
22 the registration area.
23 Q. Did you take that to mean the defendant
24 wanted you to observe his conduct?

12:35PM 25 A. Yes.
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12:35PM 1 Q. And in your experience as a detective did

2 that strike you as someone trying to get by with

3 something or someone hoping that you will see that it
4 was consensual?
12:36PM 5 MS. DERJAVINA: Objection. Speculation,
6 relevance of others cases.
7 THE COURT: He's asking her experience. I
38 will allow the question.
9 THE WITNESS: So I'm a neutral fact

12:36PM 10 finder.

11 BY MR. HAMILTON:

12 Q. Right.
13 A. Open to both. I've got to conduct a full
14 interview and look at all evidence available to include

12:36PM 15 all video from start to finish.

16 Q. And how long have you been doing this,
17 detective?
18 A. Sex crimes detective?
19 Q. Yes.
12:36PM 20 A. One year.
21 Q. And in your one year of doing this is it
22 your experience that guilty people normally ask you to

23 look at tapes of them?
24 MS. DERJAVINA: Again I think objection.

12:36PM 25 THE COURT: I will sustain the nature of
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12:36PM 1 the question. Guilty. You can ask her if people do,
2 but not whether she knows they're guilty or not.

3 BY MR. HAMILTON:

4 Q. In your professional opinion as a
12:36PM 5 detective does that cut one way or the other about
6 whether or not —-
7 A. No.
38 Q. That doesn't cut one way or the other?
9 A. No.
12:37PM 10 Q. You reviewed all the tapes?
11 A. Yes.
12 Q. Is it correct that the alleged victim can
13 be seen kissing Mr. Caruso?
14 MS. DERJAVINA: Objection. Best evidence.

12:37PM 15 She can't testify to what she saw in the video. She
16 wasn't watching it live. It would be like —-
17 THE COURT: Well, I will allow the
18 question, counsel. You guys ask that all the time. I
19 don't see a problem with asking if she saw the video
12:37PM 20 that you asked her about and did she see them kissing
21 in the video. Overruled.
22 MS. DERJAVINA: Just for the record if we
23 had done it, defense objects all the time. The only
24 time it's appropriate is when she was watching it live,

12:38PM 25 that's one thing. But if she goes back —-- every single
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12:38PM 1 case I've done I have never —-—
2 THE COURT: Watching what live? The video
3 live?
4 MS. DERJAVINA: Yes. For example, loss
12:38PM 5 prevention officer watches the video as it's happening.

6 He watched the defendant do that. They're allowed to
7 testify. They're watching it live. But I have never
8 had it where a detective can testify to what they saw
9 on the video without putting the video in. That's the
12:38PM 10 reason I didn't ask what could be seen in the video
11 because without putting the video in it's the best
12 evidence. Without putting the video in I can't have
13 somebody describe what they saw.
14 THE COURT: I don't have the video in
12:38PM 15 front of me.
16 MS. DERJAVINA: Exactly.
17 THE COURT: So I will sustain that

18 objection.

19 MR. HAMILTON: Judge, if I may be heard?
12:38PM 20 THE COURT: Yes.

21 MR. HAMILTON: The prosecution asked

22 several questions about the contents of the video. For

23 example, you saw the car, you saw —-—- we didn't object

24 even though she's saying we would have objected.
12:38PM 25 MS. DERJAVINA: If your Honor wants me to,
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12:38PM 1 I didn't ask her what she saw in the video. I just
2 said if she saw the license plate and whether she ran
3 the license plate. I didn't have her describe exactly
4 what she saw happening in the video which would be
12:39PM 5 admitting the content of the video through her

6 testimony. That's not what the State did.

7 MR. HAMILTON: We're running into a
8 situation —-
9 THE COURT: Honestly I don't see the

12:39PM 10 difference. I don't see the difference between asking
11 a witness if they saw a license plate and who it came
12 back to and did you look at a video and did you see

13 whether they kissed. I don't see the difference.

14 MS. DERJAVINA: Well, the difference is if
12:39PM 15 you saw a license plate and then you ran it, it doesn't
16 describe the actions that you can see in the video

17 which is them driving into the parking lot, them going

18 wherever and all of that.

19 THE COURT: I agree with that, but you're
12:39PM 20 saying did you run the license plate but you are

21 letting them say yeah, I ran the license plate, that's

22 the one I saw and that's what it came back to. I don't

23 see the difference.

24 MS. DERJAVINA: I didn't elicit the

12:39PM 25 license plate number.
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12:39PM 1 THE COURT: ©No. But you did ask who it
2 came back to.
3 MS. DERJAVINA: And that's fine. But he's
4 having her describe the actions of the defendant and
12:39PM 5 the victim in the video that -—-
6 THE COURT: He's not asking her what kind
7 of kiss it was. He's saying did you see them kiss.
38 I'm going to allow that question, if you saw them kiss.
9 MS. DERJAVINA: That's fine. We obviously

12:40PM 10 put our objection on the record. Thank you.

11 THE COURT: 1It's on the record.

12 MR. HAMILTON: Judge, if I may note it's
13 getting to the point where we're being dictated how we
14 can present our case and I just think it's

12:40PM 15 inappropriate.
16 THE COURT: Well, it's not inappropriate.
17 They can object all they want and if I feel that the
18 objection is warranted, I'll sustain it. I feel like
19 there have been questions asked about the video and I

12:40PM 20 don't see the difference and for the record I don't see

21 the difference between asking did you see the car, did
22 you see the license plate, who did it come back to and
23 who was it registered to. They're representing what

24 they saw on the video was the truth and you didn't

12:40PM 25 object but nevertheless the information came in. And
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12:40PM 1 so he can cross—examine her about that information.

2 And it was a video. Was it a different wvideo than this

3 one?

4 MS. DERJAVINA: No, Your Honor. We have
12:41PM 5 some case law on the difference, but if your Honor has

6 already made your ruling we'll take ——

7 THE COURT: ©No. I'm interested in knowing

38 what the case law says. But I need to read the case.

9 MS. DERJAVINA: 103 Nevada 436. It talks
12:41PM 10 about the evidence rule requires production of the

11 original document where the actual content of the

12 document are at issue and sought to be proved.

13 The reason he's admitting this video and

14 the actions is he's trying to say oh, they kissed. The
12:41PM 15 reason I had elicited did you run the license plate and

16 find out who it belonged to is to explain how she

17 ultimately got to the defendant, contacted him and

18 spoke to him.

19 THE COURT: Does 103 Nevada 436 express a
12:41PM 20 difference between what you're saying and what he's

21 saying or does it Jjust say that you can look at a video

22 and it's got to be admitted?

23 MS. DERJAVINA: That's what it's saying.

24 If you're actually trying to admit the content of a

12:41PM 25 video or a writing -—-
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12:41PM 1 THE COURT: But what were you doing? What
2 did you do? You know how these work. You've been to

3 moot court and you've been in a lot of courts.

4 MS. DERJAVINA: Your Honor, I was

12:42PM 5 admitting it but not for the actual -- the writing --
6 the content of it. It doesn't matter what the license
7 plate number said. It's to explain her running that
38 license plate that she saw on the video and ultimately

9 getting to his name and getting to him. It's

12:42PM 10 irrelevant. It could have been like 002478.

11 THE COURT: It wouldn't have come back to
12 him.
13 MS. DERJAVINA: Exactly. But to explain

14 how she ultimately gets to him. They are trying to
12:42PM 15 admit what's happening in the video for the actual
16 content of the video and that you can see that they are

17 kissing in the video. That's the difference. That

18 goes to the core of the case and to the core of what
19 the video would show.
12:42PM 20 THE COURT: So would it be admissible for

21 him to say does it appear that they were kissing in the

22 video?
23 MS. DERJAVINA: No.
24 THE COURT: But you're saying it appears

12:42PM 25 there was a license plate and you can't tell me that
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12:42PM 1 what you're saying about the license plate was not
2 offered for the truth of the matter asserted because

3 you took that license plate and you did something with

4 it and now you've come up with a conclusion it was his
12:43PM 5 license plate. I don't see the difference.

6 MS. DERJAVINA: The difference is even if,

7 for example, we say it wasn't -- she got an eight. She

8 called the number and it wasn't his license plate but

9 ultimately he called back and identified himself. It's
12:43PM 10 basically to explain to your Honor how she got to the
11 defendant. The relevance of the license plate at this
12 point really doesn't matter, but they're wanting what's
13 happening on the video for specifically that they are
14 kissing in the video. When you think about it the
12:43PM 15 license plate in this case is really irrelevant other
16 than to explain how they get to the defendant and that

17 they call his number and that he called back. But it

18 doesn't really matter what the license plate is.

19 THE COURT: I need to read your case. Let
12:43PM 20 me see your case.

21 MS. DERJAVINA: May I approach?

22 THE COURT: Yes.

23 MS. SCHEIBLE: I think I just have the

24 summary.
12:44PM 25 MR. HAMILTON: If it's no trouble can I
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12:44PM 1 have a copy?
2 THE COURT: You bet.
3 MR. HAMILTON: I want to make sure I'm up
4 to date on the best evidence rule.

12:47PM 5 THE COURT: It's 119 Chevrolet Motor

6 Vehicle versus the County of Nye. Is that a forfeiture
7 in a civil action or is it a criminal action?

8 MS. DERJAVINA: I believe based on the

9 title it's a civil case but it cites to NRS 52.235

12:47PM 10 which is the best evidence rule that's also used in

11 criminal cases. And I'm looking, your Honor, at
12 Westlaw under that statute and that's where the cases
13 are cited. Like I said that's the statute we use in
14 criminal cases.

12:47PM 15 MR. HAMILTON: Your Honor, to the extent

16 it makes any difference I'm through asking about the

17 video.

18 THE COURT: We didn't get an answer but

19 I'll keep it. But one of the things that I learned
12:47PM 20 early was not to bring a civil case into a criminal

21 matter. I got kind of dusted on that one.

22 MS. DERJAVINA: I can understand that,

23 your Honor, and we appreciate you taking the time to

24 read that.

12:48PM 25 THE COURT: ©Not a problem.
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12:48PM 1 Are you finished?
2 MR. HAMILTON: Just briefly.
3 THE COURT: Go ahead.

4 BY MR. HAMILTON:

12:48PM 5 Q. Detective, is your only source of
6 information about what occurred in the hotel room
7 between Mr. Caruso and Miss Rivera the statements
38 Mr. Caruso made to you?
9 A. No.
12:48PM 10 0. What other information?
11 A. What other evidence?
12 Q. What other sources of evidence have you
13 considered about what happened in that hotel room?
14 A. The victim's statements, the victim's

12:48PM 15 friends' statements, the actual video, the timeline,

16 the Lyft receipt and the alteration of the destination.

17 Q. Before we go off on a tangent about the
18 video again, there is no video of the two of them
19 actually in the hotel room, correct?
12:49PM 20 A. That's correct.
21 MR. HAMILTON: Nothing further.
22 THE COURT: Thank you. Anything else,
23 counsel?
24 MS. DERJAVINA: No, Your Honor. Thank

12:49PM 25 you.
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12:49PM 1 THE COURT: Thank you. You're excused.
2 THE WITNESS: Thank you, sir. Thank vyou,
3 Judge.
4 THE COURT: Does that conclude your case
12:49PM 5 in chief?
6 MS. DERJAVINA: Before we rest we have
7 amendments to make to the complaint. So, your Honor,

38 on Page 2 for Count 6, line 22 the State is amending
9 where it says by rubbing and/or touching the genital
12:50PM 10 area of RR over and/or under her clothing.
11 THE COURT: Okay.
12 MS. DERJAVINA: At this point those are
13 the only amendments the State had, your Honor.
14 THE COURT: All right. With that do you

12:50PM 15 rest?

16 MS. DERJAVINA: Yes, your Honor.
17 THE COURT: Now, if we can just get
18 through that the other case real quick we can finish

19 this one after.

12:50PM 20 MS. SCHEIBLE: I think we can, your Honor.
21 (Recess.)
22 THE COURT: Back in session on 19FH2101,
23 State versus Caruso.
24 Defense.

2:01PM 25 MR. HAMILTON: Your Honor, we do have four
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2:01PM 1 witnesses. We are going to try and be as economical
2 with the time as possible.
3 THE COURT: Okay.
4 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand.
2:01PM 5 Do you solemnly swear that the testimony

6 that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

7 truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

38 THE WITNESS: Yes.
9 THE CLERK: Please be seated.
2:01PM 10 Please state your first and last name and

11 spell each for the record.

12 THE WITNESS: Daniel Madrigal.
13 THE COURT: Spell your last name, please.
14 THE WITNESS: M-A-D-R-I-G-A-L.
2:02PM 15 THE COURT: Have a seat.
16 Go ahead, counsel.
17
18 DANIEL MADRIGAL,
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
19
20 DIRECT EXAMINATION

21 BY MR. HAMILTON:

22 Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Madrigal. I'm Ryan
23 Hamilton, counsel for Mr. Caruso. We met in the hall
24 briefly. Mr. Madrigal, am I correct your girlfriend is

2:02PM 25 Raquelle Rouw?
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2:02PM 1 A. Yes.
2 Q. And was she your girlfriend on the late
3 night of June 21, early morning June 227
4 A. Yes.
2:02PM 5 Q. Do you recall late night June 21, early
6 morning June 227
7 A. Yes.
8 Q. Where were you at that time?
9 A. I was at my friend AJ's house.
2:02PM 10 Q. And does AJ go by any other names?
11 A. Andres Daniel Jaramillo.
12 Q. Did you have any alcohol to drink that

13 night?

14 A. Yes.
2:03PM 15 Q. Did you become intoxicated?
16 A. Yes.
17 Q. Approximately what time did you go to

18 sleep?

19 A. I'd say two.
2:03PM 20 Q. About 2:00 a.m.?
21 A. Somewhere around there.
22 Q. And are you able to tell me how drunk you
23 were in your own words when you went to sleep?
24 A. I was stumbling.
2:03PM 25 Q. I'm sorry?
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2:03PM 1 A. I was stumbling. Numb.

2 Q. Where did you sleep?

3 A. On the couch downstairs.

4 Q. And when you say downstairs, is that in
2:03PM 5 the living room?

6 A. Yes.

7 Q. And anyone sleeping on or near you?

8 A. Yes.

9 Q. Who was that?
2:03PM 10 A. Raquelle.

11 Q. And can you describe how the two of you

12 were positioned?

13 A. So I was laying down —-—- the couch is like

14 an L. I was laying down on the longer side and she was

2:04PM 15 laying next to me on like a foot rest thing and so she

16 was right next to me.

17 Q. At any point if you recall did you have
18 your arm around her?
19 A. Yes.
2:04PM 20 Q. Where was your arm and where was it around
21 her?
22 A. Usually like this. I sleep —— whenever I
23 sleep with her it's always around her.
24 Q. And around by her neck or her arm?
2:04PM 25 A. Like mid section.
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2:04PM 1 Q. To the best of your recollection is that

2 how you fell asleep that night?

3 A. I don't really remember.

4 0. Did you ever wake up in the middle of the
2:05PM 5 night, the early morning June 22nd?

6 A. No, I did not.

7 Q. Did you ever notice anyone coming to

38 bother you or Raquelle?

9 A. No. I was sleeping.
2:05PM 10 Q. Around the time that you went to sleep did
11 you notice anyone leaving the house?
12 A. No, I did not.
13 Q. At some point did you learn that there had

14 been an allegation that Mr. Caruso had touched Raquelle

2:05PM 15 during the night?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Were you surprised by that allegation?

18 A. Yes.

19 Q. Can you explain why you were surprised?
2:06PM 20 A. I couldn't believe it. 1It's like that

21 really happened? She was sleeping right next to me. I

22 thought everything was safe. But I guess not.

23 Q. How much had you had to drink that
24 evening?
2:06PM 25 A. I'd say six shots.
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2:06PM 1 Q. Can you tell the Court over what span of
2 time?
3 A. Over like an hour or two.
4 Q. You're a big fellow. How much do you
2:06PM 5 weigh?
6 A. Back then?
7 Q. Yes. If it's different.
8 A. Yeah. I weighed 209.
9 Q. And how tall?
2:06PM 10 A. 6'2".
11 Q. What time did you wake up the next
12 morning?
13 A. I'd say like nine o'clock.
14 Q. Was anyone up in the house at that time?
2:07PM 15 A. Yes.
16 Q. Who was up?
17 A. 0J.
18 Q. Who is 0J?
19 A. AJ's dad. His name is Orlando Jaramillo.
2:07PM 20 Q. Am I right that at some point in the day
21 you had lunch with a number of people in the house?
22 A. Yes.
23 Q. Who all was at that lunch?
24 A. It was 0J, AJ, Justice, me, Raquelle and I
2:07PM 25 think AJ's brothers.
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2:07PM 1 Q. And I apologize if I asked this already.

2 What time was that lunch?

3 A. I think it was like around 12.
4 Q. Did you guys watch some UFC fights?
2:08PM 5 A. In the morning?
6 Q. At any point during the day of the 22nd.
7 A. I think we did, vyes.
8 Q. And who all participated in watching UFC
9 fights?
2:08PM 10 A. Me, Raquelle, 0J, I think AJ and Justice
11 were there.
12 Q. Do you remember one way or the other
13 whether or not Mr. Caruso was involved in that?
14 A. He was not there yet. I don't think so.
2:08PM 15 Q. What is your best recollection of when the

16 viewing of the UFC fights occurred?
17 A. What do you mean?
18 Q. What time did that happen when you watched

19 the UFC fights?

2:08PM 20 A. It was while we were eating so around 12.
21 Q. And what time did you leave the Jaramillo
22 house?
23 A. I think it was one. I think it was one.
24 Q. Around one o'clock?

2:09PM 25 A. Yes. One or two.
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MR. HAMILTON: Pass the witness, your
Honor.

MS. DERJAVINA: Just brief cross.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MS. DERJAVINA:

Q. Do you mind if I call you Daniel? I can't
pronounce your last name.

A. Yes.

Q. Defense counsel asked you a couple
questions about the morning and into the day of
June 22nd, okay?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. He asked you about whether you guys had
lunch and you watched the UFC fight?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you describe did anything catch your
attention regarding Raquelle's demeanor that morning
and that afternoon?

A. Yes. She was acting very awkward and
really wanted to leave and go home.

Q. Now, at some point did Raquelle tell you
what happened?

A. Yes.

Q. Without going into what she told you,
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2:09PM 1 first of all where was this?
2 A. It was in her car.
3 Q. As you guys were about to leave?
4 A. Uh-huh.
2:10PM 5 Q. Without telling us what she told you what
6 was her demeanor like when she told you what happened?
7 A. I was very andgry.
8 Q. What was her demeanor like?
9 A. She was crying.
2:10PM 10 MS. DERJAVINA: Nothing further, your
11 Honor.
12 THE COURT: Anything else, counsel?
13
14 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

2:10PM 15 BY MR. HAMILTON:

16 Q. Mr. Madrigal, did you also stay for dinner

17 that evening at the Jaramillo house?

18 A. No, I didn't.

19 MR. HAMILTON: I will pass the witness.
2:10PM 20 THE COURT: Anything further?

21 MS. DERJAVINA: No, Your Honor.

22 THE COURT: Thank you, sir. You're

23 excused.

24 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand.
2:10PM 25 Do you solemnly swear that the testimony
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2:10PM 1 that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

2 truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

3 THE WITNESS: Yes.
4 THE CLERK: Please be seated.
2:10PM 5 Please state your first and last name and
6 spell each for the record.
7 THE WITNESS: Andres Jaramillo.

8 A-N-D-R-E-S. Last name J-A-R-A-M-I-L-L-0O.

9 THE COURT: Thank you.
2:11PM 10 Go ahead, counsel.
11
12 ANDRES JARAMILIO,
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
13
14 DIRECT EXAMINATION

2:11PM 15 BY MR. HAMILTON:
16 Q. Mr. Jaramillo, we met in the hall. I'm

17 Ryan Hamilton, counsel for the defendant. Is it okay

18 if I call you Andres only because we have another Mr.
19 Jaramillo in the case?

2:12PM 20 A. Yes.
21 Q. Andres, I'd like to direct your attention

22 to late night June 215t

and early morning
23 June 22nd. Do you recall those dates?
24 A. Yes.

2:12PM 25 Q. And were you present in the house on
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2:12PM 1 Sitting Bull when Raquelle arrived?

2 A. Yes.

3 Q. Who else was present?

4 A. Downstairs it was me, my girlfriend
2:12PM 5 Justice, Sam and my sister Alexis.

6 Q. What's the relationship between your

7 sister Alexis and the defendant?

38 A. Like talking about Sam, right?

9 Q. Yes, sir. Sam.
2:13PM 10 A. They were boyfriend and girlfriend.

11 Q. And it's my understanding that people in

12 the house were drinking alcohol; is that correct?

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. Were you able to observe Raquelle's

2:13PM 15 demeanor throughout the night?
16 A. Yes.
17 Q. And what was her demeanor like through the

18 night?

19 A. She was fine. She wasn't acting like --
2:14PM 20 not like she was super drunk or something like out of

21 the ordinary. She seemed normal.

22 Q. Were you able to observe how much she had

23 had to drink over the course of the evening?

24 A. Sort of I think later in the night she

2:14PM 25 ended up getting pretty sick from it, yeah.
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2:14PM 1 Q. Is that something you observed or just

2 heard about?

3 A. That's something I observed.

4 Q. And when you say she got sick you mean she
2:14PM 5 was vomiting?

6 A. Yeah. I believe she vomited.

7 Q. What time did that occur?

8 A. I'm not sure.

9 Q. Am I correct that your girlfriend Justice

2:15PM 10 also became sick?

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. Did you observe Raquelle assisting

13 Justice?

14 A. At one point we were all kind of assisting

2:15PM 15 her. She went upstairs. I believe Sam was the first
16 one up there with her and then we went upstairs and we
17 caught up to them in the bathroom and Sam was like oh,
18 she's sick, she says she wants you in there. So then
19 it was me, Raquelle and Daniel. But then they ended up

2:15PM 20 leaving and it was Jjust me and her.

21 Q. It was Jjust you and Justice?

22 A. Yeah.

23 Q. What time did you go to bed that evening-?
24 A. I'm not sure. It was shortly after my

2:15PM 25 girlfriend had gotten sick. She got sick and she Jjust
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2:15PM 1 wanted to lay down. So we ended up going to bed.
2 Q. I assume you had your own room at the
3 house?
4 A. Yes.
2:16PM 5 Q. Is that where you slept that night?
6 A. Yeah.
7 Q. Do you know one way or the other where

38 Alexis slept?
9 A. In her room which is directly next to

2:16PM 10 mine.

11 Q. Did you ever observe Sam in the room with

12 Alexis?

13 A. No. I ended up going into the room. I

14 just closed the door.
2:16PM 15 Q. Do you know one way or the other what time

16 Raquelle went to sleep?

17 A. No.
18 Q. Did you ever observe Sam leave the house?
19 A. No.

2:17PM 20 Q. Am I correct that you have a brother by

21 the name of Angelo?

22 A. Yes.
23 Q. And where does Angelo live?
24 A. Across the street.
2:17PM 25 Q. Do you know one way or the other if Sam
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2:17PM 1 went to go visit Angelo that night?
2 A. I believe he did because we have a Ring.
3 It's a doorbell system and it videotapes any time
4 there's movement in front of the door and they have
2:17PM 5 like the movement of him leaving and coming back and
6 leaving.
7 Q. Were you able to observe what time Sam
8 left and came back?
9 A. Just through the Ring.
2:17PM 10 Q. And what time?
11 A. I'm not sure. I can't really recall, but
12 I think he had to have come back around four or five.
13 MS. DERJAVINA: If I may, your Honor, the
14 same objection that we had regarding the wvideo.
2:18PM 15 THE COURT: I will sustain that objection.

16 BY MR. HAMILTON:

17 Q. Did you ever have any discussion with Sam
18 about going to see your brother Angelo that night?

19 A. Yes. I think he did bring it up that he

2:18PM 20 wanted to go over there.

21 Q. And did you go over there with him?

22 A. No, I didn't go.

23 Q. What time did you wake up the next day?
24 A. I'm not sure. I want to say around 10,

2:19PM 25 11.
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2:19PM 1 Q. You have a brother named AJ?
2 A. I'm AJ.
3 Q. I'm sorry. How many brothers have you
4 got?

2:19PM 5 A. I have three brothers and all of our

6 initials are AJ but I'm the only one that goes by it.

7 Q. So I hope you can understand my confusion.
38 A. Were you going to say Alex?
9 Q. Yes. That's the source of my confusion.

2:20PM 10 AJ, Andres, thank you for your time.

11 I'll pass the witness.

12 MS. DERJAVINA: The State has no

13 questions, your Honor.

14 THE COURT: Thank you, sir. You may step

2:20PM 15 down.
16 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand.
17 Do you solemnly swear that the testimony
18 that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

19 truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

2:20PM 20 THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.
21 THE CLERK: Please be seated.
22 Please state your first and last name and

23 spell each for the record.
24 THE WITNESS: Orlando Jaramillo.

2:21PM 25 O-R-L-A-N-D-O J-A-R-A-M-I-L-L-O.
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2:21PM 1 THE COURT: Thank you, sir. You may be

2 seated.

3 Go ahead, counsel.
4
2:21PM 5 ORLANDO JARAMILIO,
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
6
7 DIRECT EXAMINATION

8 BY MR. HAMILTON:
9 Q. Mr. Jaramillo, Ryan Hamilton, we met out

2:21PM 10 in the hall briefly. May I call you Orlando just for

11 ease of the record?
12 A. Sure.
13 Q. Orlando, do you recall the late night,
14 early morning of June 21 and 227
2:21PM 15 A. Yes, sir.
16 Q. And is it correct you reside at a house on

17 Sitting Bull?

18 A. Yes, sir. 938.

19 Q. Orlando, my questions are do you know one
2:21PM 20 way or the other whether Sam left your house early

21 morning of June 227

22 A. He went across the street to my son's

23 place. But I mean, I didn't see him and of course I

24 was in bed.

2:22PM 25 MS. DERJAVINA: At this point I would
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2:22PM 1 object to his knowledge.
2 THE COURT: Sustained. Lay a foundation.

3 BY MR. HAMILTON:

4 Q. How do you know that?
2:22PM 5 A. We have a Ring app. The doorbell ring.
6 Q. And so do you have knowledge of when Sam

7 left the home, left your home?

38 MS. DERJAVINA: And then I would object.
9 The best evidence would be based on the wvideo.
2:22PM 10 THE COURT: If you have the video let's

11 watch it. You should be able to get it. I got mine.

12 MR. HAMILTON: We'll get the video and
13 then I'm going to really read up on this best evidence.
14 THE COURT: Sustained.

2:23PM 15 BY MR. HAMILTON:

16 0. Orlando, I understand that a number of

17 people were drinking in the early morning June 2ond

18 in your home. 1Is that your understanding?

19 A. It's my understanding, but when I went to

2:23PM 20 bed there was none of those people at my house.
21 Q. And that was going to be my followup.
22 It's my understanding you didn't know —--
23 A. The only people when I went to bed that
24 were up and at my house at that time were Sam, my

2:23PM 25 daughter Alexis and AJ who had just gotten home and he
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2:23PM 1 was eating. That's about it. Nobody else was there.
2 Q. Just a couple more brief questions. Did
3 you cook and serve lunch for a number of people on

4 | June 22797
2:24PM 5 A. Yes, sir. The following day. I left
6 about eight o'clock in the morning, went to the store
7 about 8:30ish and then got food, brought it home and
38 prepared food for everybody.
9 Q. Approximately what time was it that lunch

2:24PM 10 was served?

11 A. Oh, geez. I want to say probably around
12 11, 11:30, somewhere in there.
13 Q. Do you recall one way or another if people
14 were watching the UFC program during lunch?

2:24PM 15 A. Everybody was Jjust hanging out, yeah.

16 There must have been UFC, yeah.

17 Q. And do you have any knowledge as to when

18 Raquelle Rouw left your home on the 22nd?

19 A. No. I would say it was in the afternoon,
2:25PM 20 though, for sure. I want to say, I don't know,

21 probably around 2:30 or 3:00. I'm not sure.

22 Q. Did you observe her demeanor during lunch,

23 her being Raquelle?

24 A. No, not really. There's so many people in

2:25PM 25 my house on a regular basis. Just we have a big family
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2:25PM 1 so it just kind of blends in I guess so I didn't really

2 pay attention to anybody. I'm always busy cooking,

3 cleaning up. Just doing what we do.
4 MR. HAMILTON: Fair enough. 1I'll pass the
2:25PM 5 witness. Thank you.
6 THE COURT: Any questions?
7 MS. DERJAVINA: No guestions, your Honor.
38 THE COURT: Thank you. Sir, you're
9 excused.
2:26PM 10 MR. HAMILTON: Judge, there is one more
11 witness but we are going to elect not to call her at
12 this time and we'll rest.
13 THE COURT: Thank you.
14 Argument?
2:26PM 15 MS. SCHEIBLE: I would waive and reserve

16 for rebuttal.

17 THE COURT: Counsel.
18 MR. HAMILTON: Judge, we do have brief
19 argument. There are essentially two cases here. Our

2:26PM 20 argument will be directed toward the incident at the

21 Hard Rock Hotel and Casino with Miss Rivera. Miss

22 Rivera's testimony was clear that she did not recall
23 any sexual activity with the defendant in this case.
24 The only testimony there was was to the effect from

2:27PM 25 Detective Nogle and there was no indication that any of

RA 000085



86

2:27PM 1 the sexual activity that she spoke about was anything

2 but consensual.

3 MS. DERJAVINA: I would just object, and I

4 apologize for having to interrupt defense counsel, but
2:27PM 5 again that kind of misstates the testimony of the

6 detective.

7 THE COURT: It's argument.

8 MR. HAMILTON: Your Honor, what is clear

9 is they were the only people who were in there in the

2:27PM 10 hotel room and my client vehemently denies he did
11 anything improper. The alleged victim simply has no
12 memory of whatever had occurred and we respectfully
13 submit that the State has not met its burden with
14 respect to any sexual misconduct claims with respect to
2:28PM 15 Ms. Rivera.
16 They have made a burglary count suggesting
17 that my client went to the premises with the intent to
18 commit a felony, the felony being sexual assault. I
19 would also submit there is no evidence of the requisite

2:28PM 20 intent on the part of my client showing that he

21 intended to have a sexual assault or anything of that.

22 With that, your Honor, we would rest.

23 THE COURT: State.

24 MS. SCHEIBLE: So I just want to clarify
2:28PM 25 it sounds like defense counsel is not making arguments
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2:28PM 1 regarding Counts 1 through 6 which relate to the first
2 victim Raquelle Rouw. I will summarize for you, your
3 Honor, that I think we presented more than slight or
4 marginal evidence that she in fact was assaulted by the
2:29PM 5 defendant early in the morning of June 2279 4t the

6 house of Sitting Bull Drive.
7 And I will also turn now to the seventh
38 through tenth counts. Your Honor, I think that this is
9 a pretty clearcut case of, you know, adding one plus
2:29PM 10 one to get two. If you have an individual who is so
11 drunk that she can't remember anything that happened
12 that night and then you have another individual having
13 sex with her, she clearly didn't have the capacity to
14 consent. And so that right there is evidence of a
2:29PM 15 sexual assault having occurred in the Hard Rock Hotel.
16 Moreover, the one thing that she does remember is
17 saying no that she didn't want this to happen, that she
18 didn't want to do this. I think that there was plenty
19 of evidence adduced at the preliminary hearing today
2:29PM 20 that the defendant was the person who committed this
21 crime and that there was a crime committed against
22 Ms. Liana Rivera. She testified that she did not have
23 pain in her vaginal regions in the beginning of the
24 evening, that she remembers experiencing pain and that

2:30PM 25 pain lasted into the morning. She remembers somebody
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2:30PM 1 else taking off her pants and somebody else taking out
2 her tampon. Those kind of memories I think speak to
3 the violence of the act that occurred and I don't think
4 that there's any reasonable question as to whether or
2:30PM 5 not the State's met its burden of proof at this
6 juncture of showing probable cause by all 10 of the
7 charges over.
38 Speaking briefly to the burglary charge I
9 will go back again to noting that this wvictim was so
2:30PM 10 inebriated that she could not consent and she could not
11 remember anything that happened. So there's simply no
12 way that the defendant could have been going to the
13 room for any purpose other than to commit this crime or
14 to commit a crime. He wasn't allowed in that hotel
2:31PM 15 room, he wasn't supposed to be in that hotel room, and
16 if he went up there and had sex with her, which is what
17 he told detectives he did, then he did that knowingly
18 and willingly. And all of those factors point towards
19 binding over all 10 charges in this case. And we would
2:31PM 20 respectfully ask that you do that.
21 THE COURT: I am in agreement. For
22 purposes of this preliminary hearing I find that
23 there's probable cause that the charges did occur and
24 that the defendant committed them. I will bind it over

2:31PM 25 to District Court, set it for initial arraignment on —-
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THE CLERK: December 18, 10:00 a.m.,

level.

(The proceedings concluded.)

*x kX kX Kk %

ATTEST: Full, true and accurate

transcript of proceedings.

/S/Lisa Brenske

LISA BRENSKE, CSR No. 186
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RA 000089



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Petitioner,
VS.
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, in
and for THE COUNTY OF CLARK; and
THE HONORABLE RICHARD SCOTTI,
District Judge,
Respondents,
and
JENNIFER LYNN PLUMLEE,
Real Party in Interest.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Petitioner,
VS.
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, in
and for THE COUNTY OF CLARK; and
THE HONORABLE RICHARD SCOTTI,
District Judge,
Respondents,
and
MATTHEW HANEY MOLEN,
Real Party in Interest.

Electronically Filed
Feb 16 2021 11:58 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court
Case No. 82236

Original Action for Writ to
Eighth Judicial District Court,
Clark County, Nevada,

Case No. C-20-346852-A

Case No. 82249

Original Action for Writ to
Eighth Judicial District Court,
Clark County, Nevada,

Case No. C-20-348754-A

NEVADA LEGISLATURE’S AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF SUPPORTING
REVERSAL OF THE DISTRICT COURT’S INTERPRETATION AND
APPLICATION OF THE SEPARATION-OF-POWERS PROVISION
IN ARTICLE 3, SECTION 1 OF THE NEVADA CONSTITUTION

KEVIN C. POWERS, General Counsel
Nevada Bar No. 6781

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU, LEGAL DIVISION

401 S. Carson St.

Carson City, NV 89701

Tel: (775) 684-6830; Fax: (775) 684-6761
Email: kpowers@Ich.state.nv.us

Attorneys for Legislature of the State of Nevada

Docket 82236 Docum%(gp-glgi%o



TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES ... i

INTRODUGCTION. .....oiiiiiieieie sttt sttt sttt sre s e neens 1
ARGUMENT ...t b e sttt re s e e e 3
I. Standards of review for writ relief. .........cccoooi i, 3
Il. Standards of review for constitutional challenges.............cccccevvvveiinnenn, 5

I11. The district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of the Due Process Clause because even if
the defendants had proven that the prosecutor committed constitutional
errors in prosecuting these cases, the defendants were not entitled to
reversal of their convictions and new trials under the Due Process Clause
because they did not make the required additional showing that the
constitutional errors caused actual prejudice that resulted in unfair
L8 =1 SRRSO 5

IV. The district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of constitutional and statutory law
because deputy district attorneys serve as county employees—not as state
officers or county officers—and they do not exercise sovereign functions
belonging to the state executive branch when they participate in criminal
PrOSECULIONS. ...ivviitiiete ettt e ettt et e st e s e e ste e be e s teesseeenbeenteesneesneeanneanne s 10

V. The district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of the separation-of-powers provision
because that provision does not prohibit legislators from holding
positions of public employment with county governments as deputy
ISTFICE ATEOINEYS. .eeieiie et nee b nnes 15

A. The separation-of-powers provision does not prohibit legislators
from holding positions of public employment with local governments
because local governments and their officers and employees are not
part of one of the three departments of state government..............c...ccoc...... 16

RA 000091



B. Even if the separation-of-powers provision is interpreted to apply
to local governments, the provision still would not prohibit legislators
from holding positions of public employment as deputy district
attorneys with county governments because deputy district attorneys
are county employees who do not exercise sovereign functions
belonging to the state executive branch when they participate in

CrimMINAl PrOSECULIONS. .....c.eiiiiieiieie e 22

(1) HiStorical BVIAENCE. .......ccueiieiiiiei e 25

(@) Federal Government and CONQIeSS. .....ccccvveieerieeiiiecie e, 25

(b) California LegiSlature. .........ccccooveiieiic e, 29

(€) Nevada LegisSlature...........cccueiiiiiieiic i, 33

(2) Case law from other JuriSAiCtiONS. .........cccccveviievie i 37

(3) Interpretation of Nevada’s separation-of-powers provision. ............. 49

CONCLUSION. ...ttt sttt srae e nrneesnaee e 62

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE ...t 64

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE ... 66

LEGISLATURE’S EXHIBITS. ... 00001
i

RA 000092



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Attorney-General v. McCaughey, 43 A. 646 (R.I. 1899).......ccccccvviviviiieceeciee 54
Austin v. State Indus. Ins. Sys., 939 F.2d 676 (9th Cir. 1991).......cccccccvvvvevveiinnnn 21
Botello v. Gammick, 413 F.3d 971 (9th Cir. 2005).......ccccevvvevieiiiiir e, 12
Bradford v. Justices of Inferior Ct., 33 Ga. 332 (1862).......ccccccevvvrniveiieiiriiennnnn, 54
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) .....ccccoviiiiiieiin et 8
Brown v. Bowling, 240 P.2d 846 (N.M. 1952) ......cccooiiiiiiiiieee e, 40
Bus. Computer Rentals v. State Treasurer, 114 Nev. 63 (1998) .........ccccevvvivninann, 3
Callie v. Bowling, 123 NeV. 181 (2007)......cccveiieiieiieiieerieesieeseesre e se e ee e 5
Carey v. Nev. Gaming Control Bd., 279 F.3d 873 (9th Cir. 2002) ...........ccceeevreneen. 21
Cass v. Dillon, 2 Ohio St. 607 (1853).....cccueiieiiiiiieiie e sie e 17
Chenoweth v. Chambers, 164 P. 428 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1917) ....cccvvvvvernennee 29, 32
City of Fernley v. State Dep’t of Tax’n, 132 Nev. 32 (2016).......ccccevvvrvvrrirniunennn, 17
City of Sparks v. Sparks Mun. Ct., 129 Nev. 348 (2013)......ccccccevvvnieriveinnnnn 17,58
Dayton Gold & Silver Mining Co. v. Seawell, 11 Nev. 394 (1876) ................. 36-37
Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986)........cccceviriiieiiieiriieiie e ee e 7
Dermott Special Sch. Dist. v. Johnson, 32 S.W.3d 477 (Ark. 2000) ...........ccccv..... 20
Dunbar Elec. Supply, Inc. v. Sch. Bd., 690 So. 2d 1339

(Fla. Dist. Ct. APP. 1997) .ot 20
Eads v. City of Boulder City, 94 Nev. 735 (1978) .....cccccceveviieiiie e, 55, 58

iii

RA 000093



Eason v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist., 303 F.3d 1137 (9th Cir. 2002) ..........ccceevennee. 20-21

Goldstein v. City of Long Beach, 715 F.3d 750 (9th Cir. 2013)......ccccecvvvvrivnennnn, 12
Halverson v. Miller, 124 Nev. 484, 488-89 (2008) .........cccccvvevverieiiieeseesee e, 34
Hamilton v. Roehrich, 628 F. Supp. 2d 1033 (D. Minn. 2009)........ccccccevvveiverinenn, 8
Heller v. Legislature, 120 NeV. 456 (2004) .......ccoeiiriieirieeieesee e 24
Hendel v. Weaver, 77 NeV. 16 (1961) ....c.cccoiiriiriieieeieesiee e 34
Herrera v. Russo, 106 F. Supp. 2d 1057 (D. Nev. 2000).........cccovvvererrnrnieeaennn 20-21
Hudson v. Annear, 75 P.2d 587 (C0l0. 1938).......cccccviiiiiieiiesieceeeeee e 41
In re Contested Election of Mallory, 128 Nev. 436 (2012)........cccccccvvvvvevveevivesinenn 11
In re Sawyer, 594 P.2d 805 (Or. 1979) .....cccoiieiieiiece e 46
Jenkins v. Bishop, 589 P.2d 770 (Utah 1978) .......ccccoovviiiiiiinneeieseee,s 41, 46, 56
King v. Bd. of Regents, 65 NeV. 533 (1948) ......cccoiiiiiiiiiienieeeeeee e 51
La Guardia v. Smith, 41 N.E.2d 153 (N.Y. 1942) ......cccoiiiiiiiiiieee e, 19
Lane v. Second Jud Dist. Ct., 104 Nev. 427 (1988) ........ccccccuverunenn. 11, 13, 14, 18, 22
Lincoln County v. Luning, 133 U.S. 529 (1890).......ccccceiviiiieiieniesie e e 20-21
Loving v. United States, 517 U.S. 748 (1996)........cccecvveiieiiienieiie e, 26
Mariposa County v. Merced Irrig. Dist., 196 P.2d 920 (Cal. 1948)..........c.ccee...... 19
McMillian v. Monroe Cnty., 520 U.S. 781 (1997) .....cccvevieiiecece e, 12
Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361 (1989).......cccccvviiiiinninniinnieiieeieeien 25-26
Monaghan v. School Dist. No. 1, 315 P.2d 797 (Or. 1957) ....cccccovvvvrvviinenennn 44, 46
WY

RA 000094



Mt. Healthy City Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ. v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274 (1977) .............. 21

Mullen v. Clark Cnty., 89 NeV. 308 (1973) ....cccccceririieiienieeniee e 58-59
Munoz v. Keane, 777 F. Supp. 282 (S.D.N.Y. 1991).....cccccoviiiiieiiecee e 8
Nev. Mining Ass’n v. Erdoes, 117 Nev. 531 (2001) ......ccccevvevvvevieesiiesieeieeenn 35-37
Nixon v. Adm’r of Gen. Servs., 433 U.S. 425 (1977) ccocoveieeceeeee e, 25
Nunez v. City of N. Las Vegas, 116 Nev. 535 (2000).......cccccererriirmienrienersennnnenns 17
O’Connor v. State, 686 F.2d 749 (9th Cir. 1982) ........ccoeviiiieiieieenee e 21
People v. Bollam, 54 N.E. 1032 (II. 1899) .......cooiiiiiieiiieeeeecee e 52
People v. Carter, 566 N.E.2d 119 (N.Y. 1990).......cccciiiriiiiiieiierie e 8
People ex rel. Att’y Gen. v. Provines, 34 Cal. 520 (1868) .........c.ccccccvevvevivernnnnnenn, 18
People v. Provines, 34 Cal. 520 (1868) .........cccceviueiiieeiieiee e 51
Poynter v. Walling, 177 A.2d 641 (Del. Super. Ct. 1962)........ccccccvevveriirieninnnnnnnn, 19
Robinson v. State, 20 P.3d 396 (Utah 2001) .......ccoooeiiieiiniienieeeeeeree e 51
Romano v. Bible, 169 F.3d 1182 (9th Cir. 1999) .........oveevveerrereeeeeeeeseeeeeseeseeeee 21
Saint v. Allen, 126 S0. 548 (La. 1930) ....ccceiiiiiiiiie e 43
Salman v. Nev. Comm’n on Jud. Discipline, 104 F. Supp. 2d 1262

(D. NEV. 2000) ...eooeeeveeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeseseseseeesseeesesesseessseeseses e asseeesesessesseeseseseeees 21
Sawyer v. Dooley, 21 NeV. 390 (1893) ....cccviveiiieieeree e 50
Shelby v. Alcorn, 36 MisS. 273 (1858).....cccciiueiiiiiieriirsie e 54
Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209 (1982) .......cciveeereerereeereeeeeseeesessesseeseeeseseessnens 7,10

v

RA 000095



Sparks Nugget v. State Dep’t of Tax’n, 124 Nev. 159 (2008)

State v. Coulon, 3 So. 2d 241 (La. 1941)

State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. 927 (2011)

State v. Dist. Ct. (Hedland), 116 Nev. 127 (2000)

State v. Dist. Ct. (Schneider), 132 Nev. 600 (2016)

State ex rel.

Barney v. Hawkins, 257 P. 411 (Mont. 1927)

State ex rel.

Black v. Burch, 80 N.E.2d 294 (Ind. 1948)

State ex rel.

Cardwell v. Glenn, 18 Nev. 34 (1883)

State ex rel.

Coffin v. Howell, 26 Nev. 93 (1901)

State ex rel.

Crawford v. Hastings, 10 Wis. 525 (1860)

State ex rel.

Harvey v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct., 117 Nev. 754 (2001)

State ex rel.

Herr v. Laxalt, 84 Nev. 382 (1968)

State ex rel.

Josephs v. Douglass, 33 Nev. 82 (1910)

State ex rel.

Kendall v. Cole, 38 Nev. 215 (1915)

State ex rel.

Mason v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs, 7 Nev. 392 (1872)

State ex rel.

Mathews v. Murray, 70 Nev. 116 (1953)

State ex rel.

Perry v. Arrington, 18 Nev. 412 (1884)

State ex rel.

Spire v. Conway, 472 N.W.2d 403 (Neb. 1991)

State ex rel.

Stratton v. Roswell Ind. Schools, 806 P.2d 1085

(N.M. Ct. App. 1991)

State ex rel.

Torreyson v. Grey, 21 Nev. 378 (1893)

Vi
RA 00

0096



State v. Gallion, 572 P.2d 683 (Utah 1977) .....ccccviiieiiiiie e 51

State v. Osloond, 805 P.2d 263 (Wash. Ct. App. 1991) ....cccovviviiniiniieieeeeriee 41
Steward v. McDonald, 958 S.W.2d 297 (Ark. 1997) ....c..ccoeiieiiiieeeee e, 5
Stilwell v. City of N. Las Vegas, 129 Nev. 720 (2013).....ccccccevveiieiieereeiiesie s, 4
Stokes v. Harrison, 115 So. 2d 373 (La. 1959)......cccccceiiiiiiiiiieiie e 20
Tam v. Colton, 94 Nev. 452 (1978) .....ccceeiieiiiiieeie e 34
United States ex rel. Norton Sound Health Corp. v. Bering Strait Sch. Dist.,

138 F.3d 1281 (9th Cir. 1998) ......eeveeeeeeeereeereeeeeeeseeeeeseeeseeeeseesseesseeeseeseseseseesseeeeee 19
Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. DR Partners, 117 Nev. 195 (2001)................. 17, 58-61
Wash. State Dep’t of Transp. v. Wash. Natural Gas Co., 59 F.3d 793

(I G 1995) ...veeeeeveeeeeeeeeee e e eee e s s ee s eeseees s eee e s es e ee s s es e s eesesen e 19
Webb v. Sloan, 330 F.3d 1158 (9th Cir. 2003)........ccceveiirirninieninienieene 12-14, 23
Weiner v. San Diego Cnty., 210 F.3d 1025 (9th Cir. 2000).........cceeviriererinrnnnnn, 12

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

U.S. CONSL. AT, I, 8 6, Cl. 2. eeeeesnnenenennennnnen 27

UNITED STATES CODE (U.S.C))

L8 U.S.C. 8431t 28

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINION

2 0P U.S. ALY GEN. 38 (1826)..vvvvrreeeeeeerreseeseesssssesssesssssseseesessessseseesssssesseseees 28

Vii

RA 000097



NEVADA CONSTITUTION

NEV. CONSE. AT, 3, 8 L oo passim
AL 2 L0 1) -1 PO = TR 56
NEV. CONSE. AIT. 4, 8 29 .ottt e e e et e e s st e e e s aer e e e e e ranees 56
NEV. CONSE. AIT. 4, 8 32 .t 11
NEV. CONSE. AIT. 6, 8 6 ..evveiiiiieiicie et sae e nee e 4
Nev. Const. art. 15,88 2,3, 10and 11 ...ccoooviieiieicieeeie e 52

NEVADA REVISED STATUTES (NRS)
NRS 218F.720.....c ettt 1

NRS 252,070 ...cc ittt bbb b nree s passim

NEVADA LEGISLATIVE BILLS

Assembly Bill No. 477 (AB 477), 2005 Nev. Stat., ch. 209, § 6, at 682................. 14

OTHER STATE CONSTITUTIONS

Cal. CONSE. AIt. 4, 8 L3, . oottt et e e et e e e ettt e e st e eareeesareeesenneeens 30

Cal. CONSE. AIt. 4, 8 10, ittt ettt r et e e et e e et e e st e s et e e e sareeeaeneeeens 30

(O B 000115 M- 1 D A V20K I < TR 44

UL CONSE. Art. WV, 8 1 oottt e s r e s r e e e eaees 51
Viii

RA 000098



OTHER AUTHORITIES

16 C.J.S. Constitutional Law 8 112, at 377 (1984)......cccccvevieiiiiiiieiienie e, 19

Affidavit of Guy L. Rocha, Former Assistant Administrator for Archives and
Records of the Division of State Library and Archives of the Department of
Cultural Affairs of the State of Nevada (Apr. 29, 2004) .......cccoveveevieeiiiesie e, 33

Affidavit of Donald O. Williams, Former Research Director of the Research
Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau of the State of Nevada
(APF. 28, 2004) ...ttt re e nae e e aaaeanne s 34

Amendments to Constitution and Proposed Statutes with Arguments Respecting
the Same to be Submitted to the Electors of the State of California at the General
Election on Tuesday, November 7, 1916 (Cal. State Archives 1916)..................... 31

Annotation, Offices Within Constitutional or Statutory Provisions Against Holding
Two Offices, 1917A L.R.A. 231 (1917) .ccue ettt 54

Chambers Studies Amendment No. 6: Proposal to Make Legislature Members
Ineligible to State Jobs is Perplexing, Sacramento Bee, Oct. 28, 1916, at9........... 31

Measure Alarms Legislators on ‘Side’ Payroll, S.F. Chron., Oct. 28, 1916, at5...30

Nevada Legislative Manual (LCB 1967-2019) .......cccocviiieiiniiene e, 34

The Federalist No. 47, pp. 325-326 (J. Cooke ed. 1961)........cccevvvrvirivniiinneeniennn 25

2 The Founders’ Constitution 346-57 (Philip B. Kurland

& Ralph Lerner eds., 1987)......ccciiiiiiiiiii s 27
IX

RA 000099



INTRODUCTION

The Legislature of the State of Nevada (Legislature), by and through its
counsel the Legal Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau (“LCB Legal”)
under NRS 218F.720, hereby files this amicus curiae brief supporting reversal of
the district court’s interpretation and application of the separation-of-powers
provision in Article 3, Section 1 of the Nevada Constitution.?

In its orders, the district court decided that a deputy district attorney who
prosecutes criminal cases and who also serves in the Legislature violates a criminal
defendant’s rights to “procedural due process” on the basis that such dual service
violates the separation-of-powers provision. (Plumlee App. V1:249-52; Molen
App. V1:233-36.) The Legislature asks this Court to reverse and vacate the district
court’s decision in these cases because the decision was based on a clearly
erroneous interpretation and application of constitutional and statutory law.

First, the district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of the Due Process Clause because even assuming

that the defendants had proven that the prosecutor committed constitutional errors

1 The Legislature’s amicus brief is limited solely to legal issues supporting
reversal of the district court’s interpretation and application of the separation-of-
powers provision. This brief does not address any other legal issues arising from
the particular facts of these cases, and this brief does not support or oppose any
of the parties with regard to any other legal issues.
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In prosecuting these cases, the defendants were not entitled to reversal of their
convictions and new trials under the Due Process Clause because they did not
make the required additional showing that the constitutional errors caused actual
prejudice that resulted in unfair trials.

Second, the district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of constitutional and statutory law because deputy
district attorneys serve as county employees—not as state officers or county
officers—and they do not exercise sovereign functions belonging to the state
executive branch when they participate in criminal prosecutions.

Third, the district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of the separation-of-powers provision because that
provision does not prohibit legislators from holding positions of public
employment with county governments as deputy district attorneys. In particular,
the separation-of-powers provision does not prohibit legislators from holding any
positions of public employment with local governments because local governments
and their officers and employees are not part of one of the three departments of
state government. Furthermore, even if the separation-of-powers provision is
interpreted to apply to local governments, the provision still would not prohibit
legislators from holding positions of public employment as deputy district

attorneys with county governments because deputy district attorneys are county
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employees who do not exercise sovereign functions belonging to the state
executive branch when they participate in criminal prosecutions.

Therefore, the Legislature asks this Court to issue a writ to Respondents, the
Eighth Judicial District Court and the Honorable Richard Scotti, District Judge,
reversing and vacating the district court’s decision in these cases because the
decision was based on a clearly erroneous interpretation and application of
constitutional and statutory law.

ARGUMENT

I. Standards of review for writ relief.
Because writ relief is an extraordinary remedy that invokes this Court’s
original jurisdiction, the decision whether to grant such relief lies within this

Court’s sole discretion. State v. Dist. Ct. (Schneider), 132 Nev. 600, 603 (2016).

This Court may grant writ relief when the petitioner does not have a plain, speedy
and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of the law to challenge the district
court’s decision. Id. Additionally, this Court may grant writ relief “where an
Important issue of law needs clarification and public policy is served by this

court’s invocation of its original jurisdiction.” Bus. Computer Rentals v. State

Treasurer, 114 Nev. 63, 67 (1998). For example, writ relief is warranted when the
petition “raises pressing issues involving the Nevada Constitution and the public

policy of this state.” Id.
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Under the Nevada Constitution, state district courts “have final appellate
jurisdiction in cases arising in Justices Courts and such other inferior tribunals as
may be established by law.” Nev. Const. art. 6, 8 6(1). As a result, when the
district court exercises its final appellate jurisdiction and reverses a criminal
conviction in the justice court or municipal court, the district court’s decision is not
subject to further appellate review in the ordinary course of the law by an appeal to

this Court. Stilwell v. City of N. Las Vegas, 129 Nev. 720, 722 (2013). Under

such circumstances, the State does not have a plain, speedy and adequate remedy
in the ordinary course of law to challenge the district court’s decision, and the
State’s only remedy is to petition this Court for extraordinary writ relief.
Schneider, 132 Nev. at 603.

As a general rule, this Court has “declined to entertain writs that request
review of a decision of the district court acting in its appellate capacity unless the
district court has improperly refused to exercise its jurisdiction, has exceeded its
jurisdiction, or has exercised its discretion in an arbitrary or capricious manner.”

State v. Dist. Ct. (Hedland), 116 Nev. 127, 134 (2000). Under these standards, this

Court will grant writ relief to correct an arbitrary or capricious exercise of
discretion when the district court’s decision is based on “[a] clearly erroneous

interpretation of the law or a clearly erroneous application of a law or rule.” State
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v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. 927, 932 (2011) (quoting Steward v. McDonald,

958 S.W.2d 297, 300 (Ark. 1997)).

In these cases, this Court should exercise its discretion to entertain the State’s
writ petition because: (1) the State does not have a plain, speedy and adequate
remedy in the ordinary course of the law to challenge the district court’s decision;
(2) the district court’s decision raises important issues of state constitutional and
statutory law and adversely affects the public policy of this State which protects
the concept of the “citizen-legislator” as the cornerstone of an effective, responsive
and qualified part-time legislative body; and (3) the district court’s decision was
based on a clearly erroneous interpretation and application of constitutional and
statutory law.

Il. Standards of review for constitutional challenges.

This Court “applies a de novo standard of review to constitutional

challenges.” Callie v. Bowling, 123 Nev. 181, 183 (2007). Under that standard,

this Court reviews the district court’s interpretation and application of
constitutional provisions de novo “without deference to the district court’s

decision.” Sparks Nugget v. State Dep’t of Tax’n, 124 Nev. 159, 163 (2008).

I11. The district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of the Due Process Clause because even if the
defendants had proven that the prosecutor committed constitutional errors in
prosecuting these cases, the defendants were not entitled to reversal of their
convictions and new trials under the Due Process Clause because they did not
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make the required additional showing that the constitutional errors caused
actual prejudice that resulted in unfair trials.

In its orders, the district court determined that a deputy district attorney who
prosecutes criminal cases and who also serves in the Legislature violates a criminal
defendant’s rights to “procedural due process” on the basis that such dual service
violates the separation-of-powers doctrine. (Plumlee App. V1:249-52; Molen App.
V1:233-36.) As a result, the district court concluded that the defendants in these
cases were entitled to reversal of their convictions and new trials in the justice
court because they were deprived of their rights to “procedural due process” given
that the deputy district attorney who prosecuted their cases served in the
Legislature at the time of their trials. (Plumlee App. V1:249-52; Molen App.
V1:233-36.) In particular, the district court reasoned that because the deputy
district attorney’s dual service as a prosecutor and legislator violated the
separation-of-powers doctrine, the deputy district attorney “did not have the legal
authority to prosecute” these cases, so each “trial was a nullity.” (Plumlee App.
V1:250; Molen App. V1:233.)

Thus, the district court’s decision to reverse the convictions and grant new
trials was based solely on its conclusion that the defendants were deprived of their
rights to procedural due process by the prosecutor’s alleged separation-of-powers
violation in prosecuting the cases. However, the district court’s decision to reverse

the convictions and grant new trials based solely on the alleged violation of
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procedural due process contradicts well-established principles of constitutional law
because even if a defendant proves that the prosecutor has committed
constitutional errors in prosecuting the case, the defendant is not entitled to
reversal of the conviction and a new trial under the Due Process Clause unless the
defendant makes the required additional showing that the constitutional errors

caused actual prejudice that resulted in an unfair trial. Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S.

209, 218-21 (1982).
The U.S. Supreme Court has stressed that “the Constitution entitles a criminal

defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one.” Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S.

673, 681 (1986). Therefore, the Supreme Court has “rejected the argument that all
federal constitutional errors, regardless of their nature or the circumstances of the
case, require reversal of a judgment of conviction.” 1d.

In the context of constitutional errors committed by the prosecutor, the
Supreme Court has stated that “the touchstone of due process analysis in cases of
alleged prosecutorial misconduct is the fairness of the trial, not the culpability of
the prosecutor.” Smith, 455 U.S. at 219. Thus, even if a defendant proves that the
prosecutor has committed constitutional errors in prosecuting the case, the
defendant is not entitled to reversal of the conviction and a new trial unless the
defendant makes the required additional showing that the constitutional errors

caused actual prejudice that resulted in an unfair trial. 1d. at 219-21. The reason
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for this rule is that “the aim of due process is not punishment of society for the
misdeeds of the prosecutor but avoidance of an unfair trial to the accused.” Id. at

219 (quoting Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963)). Consequently, even if

the district court finds that the prosecutor has committed constitutional errors in
prosecuting the case, the district court commits its own constitutional error “when
it conclude[s] that prosecutorial misconduct alone requires a new trial.” Id. at 220.

For example, several courts have rejected claims by defendants that they were
automatically entitled to reversal of their convictions and new trials because, at the
time of trial, the prosecutors were not licensed to practice law in the prosecuting
jurisdiction or their law licenses had been suspended or restricted. People v.

Carter, 566 N.E.2d 119, 123-24 (N.Y. 1990); Munoz v. Keane, 777 F. Supp. 282,

284-87 (S.D.N.Y. 1991); Hamilton v. Roehrich, 628 F. Supp. 2d 1033, 1050-54

(D. Minn. 2009). The courts rejected the defendants’ arguments that their trials
were inherently unfair because the prosecutors were not legally authorized to
practice law at the time of the trials. 1d. The courts concluded that the defendants
were not entitled to reversal of their convictions and new trials because they did
not show that the prosecutors’ lack of legal authority to practice law caused actual
prejudice that resulted in an unfair trial. As stated by the New York court, “in the

absence of prejudice, the fact that [the prosecutor] was not a lawyer did not result
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in a deprivation of defendants’ constitutional due process rights.” Carter, 566
N.E.2d at 124.

In these cases, the defendants argued that the deputy district attorney’s dual
service as a prosecutor and legislator violated the separation-of-powers doctrine.
(Plumlee App. V1:179, 231-33; Molen App. V1:154-55; 173-74.) The defendants
also argued that each “trial was a nullity” based solely on the alleged separation-of-
powers violation. (Plumlee App. V1:179, 231-33; Molen App. V1:154-55; 173-
74.) However, the defendants did not include any arguments attempting to make
the required additional showing that the alleged separation-of-powers violation
caused actual prejudice that resulted in an unfair trial. (Plumlee App. V1:179, 231-
33; Molen App. V1:154-55; 173-74.)

Similarly, the district court determined that the deputy district attorney’s dual
service as a prosecutor and legislator violated the separation-of-powers doctrine.
(Plumlee App. V1:249-52; Molen App. V1:233-36.) As a result, the district court
concluded that the defendants in these cases were entitled to reversal of their
convictions and new trials in the justice court because they were deprived of their
rights to “procedural due process” given that the deputy district attorney who
prosecuted their cases served in the Legislature at the time of their trials. (Plumlee
App. V1:249-52; Molen App. V1:233-36.) In reaching its conclusion, the district

court stated that it found “a violation of procedural due process of nearly the
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highest order.” (Plumlee App. V1:250; Molen App. V1:234.) However, the district
court did not make any findings that the violation caused actual prejudice that
resulted in an unfair trial. (Plumlee App. V1:249-52; Molen App. V1:233-36.)

Under such circumstances, the district court’s decision to reverse the
convictions and grant new trials based solely on its finding that the prosecutor had
committed constitutional errors in prosecuting these cases contradicts well-
established principles of constitutional law because the district court “concluded
that prosecutorial misconduct alone requires a new trial.” Smith, 455 U.S. at 220.
Therefore, the district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of the Due Process Clause because even if the
defendants had proven that the prosecutor committed constitutional errors in
prosecuting these cases, the defendants were not entitled to reversal of their
convictions and new trials under the Due Process Clause because they did not
make the required additional showing that the constitutional errors caused actual
prejudice that resulted in unfair trials.

IV. The district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of constitutional and statutory law because
deputy district attorneys serve as county employees—not as state officers or
county officers—and they do not exercise sovereign functions belonging to the
state executive branch when they participate in criminal prosecutions.

In its orders, the district court determined that a deputy district attorney

“enforcing the laws of the State of Nevada, and representing the State of Nevada,
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Is actually exercising powers belonging to the [s]tate executive branch.” (Plumlee
App. V1:250-51; Molen App. V1:234.) However, the district court’s determination
contradicts well-established constitutional and statutory law which classifies
deputy district attorneys as county employees and which does not authorize deputy
district attorneys to exercise sovereign functions belonging to the state executive
branch when they participate in criminal prosecutions.

Under Article 4, Section 32 of the Nevada Constitution, because the office of
the district attorney is a county office, Nevada’s district attorneys are not state

officers of the executive branch. Lane v. Second Jud Dist. Ct., 104 Nev. 427, 437

(1988); In re Contested Election of Mallory, 128 Nev. 436, 439 (2012). As

explained by this Court:
The plain language of Article 4, Section 32 clearly declares that district
attorneys are county officers. And because the Nevada Constitution
plainly identifies district attorneys as county officers, it necessarily
follows that the office of district attorney cannot be considered a “state
office[.]”
Mallory, 128 Nev. at 439. Thus, this Court has determined that Nevada’s district
attorneys are not acting as state officers of the executive branch when they conduct
criminal prosecutions. Lane, 104 Nev. at 437.
Based on Nevada law, the Ninth Circuit has also determined that Nevada’s

district attorneys are not acting as state officers of the executive branch when they

are sued for federal civil rights violations stemming from their exercise of
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policymaking authority in conducting criminal prosecutions. Webb v. Sloan, 330

F.3d 1158, 1164-65 (9th Cir. 2003); Botello v. Gammick, 413 F.3d 971, 979 (9th

Cir. 2005). Under the federal civil rights statute in 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a county can
be sued for damages for certain constitutional violations committed by county

officers who exercise “policymaking authority.” McMillian v. Monroe Cnty., 520

U.S. 781, 785 (1997). By contrast, “[s]tates and state officials acting in their
official capacities cannot be sued for damages under Section 1983.” Goldstein v.

City of Long Beach, 715 F.3d 750, 753 (9th Cir. 2013).

Because district attorneys perform a variety of official functions for the state
and local governments, they can exercise policymaking authority for the state for
some official functions and policymaking authority for the county for other official

functions. Weiner v. San Diego Cnty., 210 F.3d 1025, 1028-31 (9th Cir. 2000);

Goldstein, 715 F.3d at 753-59. Therefore, to determine whether the county can be
sued for constitutional violations stemming from the district attorney’s exercise of
policymaking authority in conducting criminal prosecutions, federal courts must
decide “whether the district attorney acted as a county official or as a state official
when he decided to proceed with [the defendant’s] criminal prosecution.” Weiner,
210 F.3d at 1028. When federal courts make this determination, their “answer to

that question is dependent on state law.” 1d.
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In Webb, the Ninth Circuit reviewed Nevada law, including this Court’s
decision in Lane, and determined that Nevada’s district attorneys are acting as
county officers, not as state officers of the executive branch, when they conduct
criminal prosecutions. Webb, 330 F.3d at 1164-65. Therefore, the Ninth Circuit
concluded that Nevada’s district attorneys exercise policymaking authority for the
county—instead of the state executive branch—when they conduct criminal
prosecutions. Id.

In Webb, the Ninth Circuit also reviewed Nevada law to determine whether
Nevada’s deputy district attorneys exercise policymaking authority for the county
In a manner similar to the district attorneys who employ them. Id. at 1164-66. At
the time, Nevada law provided in NRS 252.070(1) that:

All district attorneys are authorized to appoint deputies, who may

transact all official business relating to the offices to the same extent as

their principals.
NRS 252.070(1) (2001). The Ninth Circuit determined that “[b]y its plain text,
that statute confers authority on deputy district attorneys that is coextensive with
the authority enjoyed by principal district attorneys. Thus, if principal district
attorneys are final policymakers, then so are their deputies.” Webb, 330 F.3d at

1164. In making this determination, the Ninth Circuit noted that its decision was

based on the Nevada statutes that were in effect at the time of the decision and that
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“It is within the Nevada [L]egislature’s power to constrain the authority of deputies
if it should see fit.” Id. at 1166 n.5.

Following the Ninth Circuit’s interpretation of Nevada law with regard to
deputy district attorneys, the Legislature amended NRS 252.070(1) in 2005 to
provide explicitly that deputy district attorneys do not exercise “policymaking
authority for the office of the district attorney or the county by which the deputy
district attorney is employed.” Assembly Bill No. 477 (AB 477), 2005 Nev. Stat.,
ch. 209, § 6, at 682. After the 2005 amendment, NRS 252.070(1) now states:

All district attorneys may appoint deputies, who are authorized to

transact all official business relating to those duties of the office set forth

in NRS 252.080 and 252.090 to the same extent as their principals and

perform such other duties as the district attorney may from time to time

direct. The appointment of a deputy district attorney must not be
construed to confer upon that deputy policymaking authority for the
office of the district attorney or the county by which the deputy
district attorney is employed.

NRS 252.070(1) (2019) (emphasis added).

Thus, under Nevada law, deputy district attorneys are not state officers
because they do not exercise sovereign functions of the executive branch when
they conduct criminal prosecutions. See Lane, 104 Nev. at 437; Webb, 330 F.3d at
1164-65. Furthermore, deputy district attorneys are not county officers because
they do not exercise “policymaking authority for the office of the district attorney
or the county by which the deputy district attorney is employed.” NRS 252.070(1).

Consequently, under Nevada law, deputy district attorneys are county employees
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who do not exercise sovereign functions belonging to the state executive branch
when they participate in criminal prosecutions. Accordingly, the district court’s
decision was based on a clearly erroneous interpretation and application of
constitutional and statutory law because deputy district attorneys serve as county
employees—not as state officers or county officers—and they do not exercise
sovereign functions belonging to the state executive branch when they participate
in criminal prosecutions.

V. The district court’s decision was based on a clearly erroneous
interpretation and application of the separation-of-powers provision because
that provision does not prohibit legislators from holding positions of public
employment with county governments as deputy district attorneys.

In its orders, the district court rejected the State’s and LCB Legal’s arguments
that the separation-of-powers provision does not prohibit legislators from holding
positions of public employment with local governments because local governments
and their officers and employees are not part of one of the three departments of
state government. (Plumlee App. V1:249-52; Molen App. V1:233-36.) The district
court also rejected the State’s and LCB Legal’s arguments that the separation-of-
powers provision does not prohibit legislators from holding positions of public
employment with the state executive branch because persons who hold such
positions of public employment do not exercise any sovereign functions
appertaining to the state executive branch. (Plumlee App. V1:249-52; Molen App.
V1:233-36.) The district court’s rejection of these arguments was based on a

15
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clearly erroneous interpretation and application of the separation-of-powers
provision because the district court’s reasoning conflicts with historical evidence,
legal treatises and other authorities on constitutional law, case law from other
jurisdictions interpreting similar state constitutional provisions, common-law rules
governing public officers and employees and, most importantly, the intent of the
Framers and their underlying public policies supporting the concept of the “citizen-
legislator” as the cornerstone of an effective, responsive and qualified part-time
legislative body.

A. The separation-of-powers provision does not prohibit legislators from
holding positions of public employment with local governments because
local governments and their officers and employees are not part of one of
the three departments of state government.

The separation-of-powers provision provides that “[t]he powers of the
Government of the State of Nevada shall be divided into three separate
departments,—the Legislative,—the Executive and the Judicial.” Nev. Const.
art. 3, 8 1 (emphasis added). By using the term “State” in the separation-of-powers
provision, the Framers of the Nevada Constitution expressed a clear intent to have
the provision apply only to the three departments of state government. As
explained by the Ohio Supreme Court:

[IJn general at least, when the constitution speaks of the “State,” the

whole State, in her political capacity, and not her subdivisions, is

intended. That such is the natural import of the language used, no one
denies. That such must be its construction, to make the constitution

consistent with itself, and sensible, is very apparent.
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Cass v. Dillon, 2 Ohio St. 607, 616 (1853) (emphasis added).

This Court recently stated that “the language of the separation-of-powers
provision in the Constitution does not extend any protection to political

subdivisions.” City of Fernley v. State Dep’t of Tax’n, 132 Nev. 32, 43 n.6 (2016).

This determination is consistent with prior cases in which this Court has
recognized that political subdivisions are not part of one of the three departments

of state government. See Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. DR Partners, 117 Nev. 195,

203-04 (2001) (“Neither state-owned institutions, nor state departments, nor public
corporations are synonymous with political subdivisions of the state.”); Nunez v.

City of N. Las Vegas, 116 Nev. 535, 540 (2000) (“Although municipal courts are

created by the legislature pursuant to authority vested in that body by the Nevada
Constitution, these courts are separate branches of their respective city

governments. . . .. [T]hey are not state governmental entities.”); City of Sparks v.

Sparks Mun. Ct., 129 Nev. 348, 362 n.5 (2013) (“While municipal courts are

included within the state constitutional judicial system, they are nonetheless
primarily city entities, rather than an extension of the state.”).

Because political subdivisions are not part of one of the three departments of
state government, their local officers generally are not considered to be state

officers who are subject to the separation-of-powers provision. See State ex rel.

Mason v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs, 7 Nev. 392, 396-97 (1872) (noting that the
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exercise of certain powers by a board of county commissioners was not limited by
the doctrine of separation of powers); Lane, 104 Nev. at 437 (noting that the
doctrine of separation of powers was not applicable to the exercise of certain
powers by the district attorney because he was not a state constitutional officer).
Furthermore, the Nevada Constitution was modeled on the California

Constitution of 1849. State ex rel. Harvey v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct., 117 Nev. 754,

761 (2001). Because Nevada’s constitutional provisions were taken from
California’s 1849 constitutional provisions, Nevada’s provisions “may be lawfully
presumed to have been taken with the judicial interpretation attached.” Mason, 7
Nev. at 397.

In construing the separation-of-powers provision in the California
Constitution of 1849, the California Supreme Court held that the separation-of-
powers provision did not apply to local governments and their officers and

employees. People ex rel. Att’y Gen. v. Provines, 34 Cal. 520, 523-40 (1868). In

Provines, the court stated that “[w]e understand the Constitution to have been
formed for the purpose of establishing a State Government; and we here use the
term ‘State Government’ in contradistinction to local, or to county or municipal
governments.” Id. at 532. After examining the history and purpose of the
separation-of-powers provision, the court concluded that “the Third Article of the

Constitution means that the powers of the State Government, not the local
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governments thereafter to be created by the Legislature, shall be divided into three
departments.” 1d. at 534. Thus, the court held that the separation-of-powers
provision had no application to the functions performed by a person at the local
governmental level. 1d. at 523-40.

In later cases, the California Supreme Court reaffirmed that under California
law, “it is settled that the separation of powers provision of the constitution, art. 3,
8 1, does not apply to local governments as distinguished from departments of the

state government.” Mariposa County v. Merced Irrig. Dist., 196 P.2d 920, 926

(Cal. 1948). This interpretation of the separation-of-powers doctrine is followed

by a majority of other jurisdictions. See, e.q., Poynter v. Walling, 177 A.2d 641,

645 (Del. Super. Ct. 1962); La Guardia v. Smith, 41 N.E.2d 153, 156 (N.Y. 1942);

16 C.J.S. Constitutional Law § 112, at 377 (1984).

Consequently, it is well settled that “a local government unit, though
established under state law, funded by the state, and ultimately under state control,

with jurisdiction over only a limited area, is not a ‘State.”” United States ex rel.

Norton Sound Health Corp. v. Bering Strait Sch. Dist., 138 F.3d 1281, 1284 (9th

Cir. 1998). Furthermore, “a local government with authority over a limited area, is
a different type of government unit than a state-wide agency that is part of the

organized government of the state itself.” Wash. State Dep’t of Transp. v. Wash.

Natural Gas Co., 59 F.3d 793, 800 n.5 (9th Cir. 1995). Thus, “[w]hile local
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subdivisions and boards created by the state may have some connection with one
of the departments of the state government as defined by the Constitution, they are
not ‘departments of state government’ within the intent and meaning of the [law].”

State v. Coulon, 3 So. 2d 241, 243 (La. 1941). In the face of these basic rules of

law, courts have consistently found that cities, counties, school districts and other
local governmental entities are not included within one of the three departments of

state government. See, e.g., Dermott Special Sch. Dist. v. Johnson, 32 S.W.3d

477, 480-81 (Ark. 2000); Dunbar Elec. Supply, Inc. v. Sch. Bd., 690 So. 2d 1339,

1340 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1997); Stokes v. Harrison, 115 So. 2d 373, 377-79 (La.

1959); Coulon, 3 So. 2d at 243.

Likewise, in the context of the Eleventh Amendment, federal courts
interpreting Nevada law have consistently found that cities, counties, school
districts and other local governmental entities in this state are not included within
one of the three departments of state government and that these local political
subdivisions are not entitled to Nevada’s sovereign immunity in federal court. See,

e.g., Lincoln County v. Luning, 133 U.S. 529, 530 (1890); Eason v. Clark Cnty.

Sch. Dist., 303 F.3d 1137, 1144 (9th Cir. 2002); Herrera v. Russo, 106 F. Supp. 2d

1057, 1062 (D. Nev. 2000). These federal cases are important because when a
federal court determines whether a political subdivision is part of state government

for the purposes of the Eleventh Amendment, the federal court makes its
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determination based on state law. See Mt. Healthy City Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ. v.

Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 280-81 (1977); Austin v. State Indus. Ins. Sys., 939 F.2d 676,

678-79 (9th Cir. 1991).

After examining state law in Nevada, federal courts have found that the
Nevada Gaming Control Board, the Nevada Gaming Commission, the Nevada
State Industrial Insurance System, the Nevada Supreme Court and the Nevada
Commission on Judicial Discipline are state agencies included within one of the
three departments of state government and that these state agencies are entitled to

Nevada’s sovereign immunity under the Eleventh Amendment. See Carey v. Nev.

Gaming Control Bd., 279 F.3d 873, 877-78 (9th Cir. 2002); Romano v. Bible, 169

F.3d 1182, 1185 (9th Cir. 1999); Austin, 939 F.2d at 678-79; O’Connor v. State,

686 F.2d 749, 750 (9th Cir. 1982); Salman v. Nev. Comm’n on Jud. Discipline,

104 F. Supp. 2d 1262, 1267 (D. Nev. 2000). By contrast, after examining state law
in Nevada, federal courts have found that cities, counties and school districts in
Nevada are not included within one of the three departments of state government
and that these local political subdivisions are not entitled to Nevada’s sovereign

immunity under the Eleventh Amendment. See Lincoln County, 133 U.S. at 530;

Eason, 303 F.3d at 1144; Herrera, 106 F. Supp. 2d at 1062. Thus, as viewed by
federal courts that have interpreted Nevada law, local political subdivisions in this

state are not included within one of the three departments of state government.
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Accordingly, because local political subdivisions in Nevada are not included
within one of the three departments of state government, their officers and
employees also are not part of one of the three departments of state government,
and legislators who hold such positions with local governments are not serving in
positions within one of the three departments of state government. Consequently,
given that the separation-of-powers provision applies only to the three departments
of state government, the separation-of-powers provision does not prohibit
legislators from holding positions of public employment with local governments
because local governments and their officers and employees are not part of one of
the three departments of state government. Therefore, the district court’s decision
was based on a clearly erroneous interpretation and application of the separation-
of-powers provision because that provision does not prohibit legislators from
holding positions of public employment with county governments as deputy
district attorneys.

B. Even if the separation-of-powers provision is interpreted to apply to
local governments, the provision still would not prohibit legislators from
holding positions of public employment as deputy district attorneys with
county governments because deputy district attorneys are county employees
who do not exercise sovereign functions belonging to the state executive
branch when they participate in criminal prosecutions.

As discussed previously, under Nevada law, deputy district attorneys are not

state officers because they do not exercise sovereign functions of the executive

branch when they conduct criminal prosecutions. See Lane, 104 Nev. at 437,
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Webb, 330 F.3d at 1164-65. Furthermore, deputy district attorneys are not county
officers because they do not exercise “policymaking authority for the office of the
district attorney or the county by which the deputy district attorney is employed.”
NRS 252.070(1). Consequently, under Nevada law, deputy district attorneys are
county employees. As such, even if the separation-of-powers provision is
interpreted to apply to local governments, the provision still would not prohibit
legislators from holding positions of public employment as deputy district
attorneys with county governments because deputy district attorneys are county
employees who do not exercise sovereign functions belonging to the state
executive branch when they participate in criminal prosecutions.

Under Nevada’s separation-of-powers provision, because legislators hold
elective offices that are expressly created by Article 4 of the Nevada Constitution
governing the Legislative Department, legislators are “charged with the exercise of
powers properly belonging to one of these departments,” which is the Legislative
Department. Nev. Const. art. 3, 8§ 1 (emphasis added). As a result, legislators are
not allowed by the separation-of-powers provision to “exercise any functions,
appertaining to either of the others, except in the cases expressly directed or
permitted in this constitution.” Id. (emphasis added).

Thus, the critical issue under the separation-of-powers provision is whether

legislators who hold positions of public employment with the state executive

23
RA 000122



branch or with local governments exercise any “functions” appertaining to the state
executive branch which cause their public employment to be constitutionally
incompatible with their service as legislators in the state legislative branch. This
Court has never directly addressed this issue of constitutional law in a reported

opinion. See Heller v. Legislature, 120 Nev. 456 (2004); State ex rel. Mathews v.

Murray, 70 Nev. 116 (1953).

Because there is no controlling Nevada case law directly on point to resolve
this issue of constitutional law, it is appropriate to consider: (1) historical evidence
of the practices in the Federal Government and Congress immediately following
the ratification of the Federal Constitution; (2) historical evidence of the practices
in the California Legislature under similar state constitutional provisions which
served as the model for the Nevada Constitution; (3) historical evidence of the
practices in the Nevada Legislature since statehood; (4) legal treatises and other
authorities on constitutional law; (5) case law from other jurisdictions interpreting
similar state constitutional provisions; (6) common-law rules governing public
officers and employees; and (7) the intent of the Framers and their underlying
public policies supporting the concept of the “citizen-legislator” as the cornerstone
of an effective, responsive and qualified part-time legislative body. Taking all
these compelling historical factors, legal authorities and public policies into

consideration, this Court should conclude that the separation-of-powers provision
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does not prohibit legislators from holding positions of public employment with the
state executive branch or with local governments.

(1) Historical evidence.

(a) Federal Government and Congress.

Based on the Federalist Papers, federal judicial precedent and long-accepted
historical practices under the United States Constitution, the Founders did not
believe that the doctrine of separation of powers absolutely prohibited an officer of
one department from performing functions in another department.

On many occasions, the U.S. Supreme Court has discussed how the Founders
adopted a pragmatic, flexible view of the separation of powers in the Federalist

Papers. See, e.g., Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361, 380-82 (1989); Nixon

v. Adm’r of Gen. Servs., 433 U.S. 425, 441-43 (1977). Relying on the Federalist

Papers, the Supreme Court has consistently adhered to “Madison’s flexible
approach to separation of powers.” Mistretta, 488 U.S. at 380. In particular,
Madison stated in the Federalist Papers that the separation of powers “‘d[oes] not
mean that these [three] departments ought to have no partial agency in, or no
controul over the acts of each other.”” Id. at 380-81 (quoting The Federalist No.
47, pp. 325-326 (J. Cooke ed. 1961)).

In light of Madison’s statements and other writings in the Federalist Papers,

the Supreme Court has found that “the Framers did not require—and indeed
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rejected—the notion that the three Branches must be entirely separate and
distinct.” Mistretta, 488 U.S. at 380. Thus, as understood by the Framers in the
Federalist Papers, the doctrine of separation of powers did not impose a hermetic,

airtight seal around each department of government. See Loving v. United States,

517 U.S. 748, 756-57 (1996). Rather, the doctrine created a pragmatic, flexible
template of overlapping functions and responsibilities so that three coordinate

departments could be fused into a workable government. See Mistretta, 488 U.S.

at 380-81. Therefore, the Founders believed in a “pragmatic, flexible view of
differentiated governmental power.” Id. at 381.

Moreover, in the years immediately following the adoption of the United
States Constitution, it was a common and accepted practice for judicial officers of

the United States to serve simultaneously as executive officers of the United States.

See Mistretta, 488 U.S. at 397-99. For example, the first Chief Justice, John Jay,
served simultaneously as Chief Justice and Ambassador to England. Similarly,
Oliver Ellsworth served simultaneously as Chief Justice and Minister to France.
While he was Chief Justice, John Marshall served briefly as Secretary of State and
was a member of the Sinking Fund Commission with responsibility for refunding
the Revolutionary War debt. Id. at 398-99. Such long-accepted historical practices

support the conclusion that the doctrine of separation of powers does not
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absolutely prohibit an officer of one department from performing functions in
another department.

Finally, the Founders did not believe that, on its own, the doctrine of
separation of powers would prohibit an executive officer from serving as a member

of Congress. See 2 The Founders’ Constitution 346-57 (Philip B. Kurland &

Ralph Lerner eds., 1987). Therefore, the Founders added the Incompatibility
Clause to the United States Constitution. Id. The Incompatibility Clause provides
that “no Person holding any Office under the United States, shall be a Member of
either House during his Continuance in Office.” U.S. Const. art. I, 8 6, cl. 2. The
history surrounding the Incompatibility Clause supports the conclusion that the
doctrine of separation of powers does not prohibit a legislator from holding a
position of public employment in the executive branch.

In 1806, Congressman J. Randolph introduced a resolution into the House of
Representatives which provided that “a contractor under the Government of the
United States is an officer within the purview and meaning of the [Incompatibility
Clause of the] Constitution, and, as such, is incapable of holding a seat in this

House.” 2 The Founders’ Constitution 357. Congressman Randolph introduced

the resolution because the Postmaster General had entered into a contract of
employment with a person to be a mail carrier and, at the time, the person was also

a member of the Senate. Id. at 357-62.
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In debating the resolution, many Congressmen indicated that the
Incompatibility Clause was the only provision in the Constitution which prohibited
dual officeholding and that, based on the long-accepted meaning of the term
“office,” a person who held a contract of employment with the executive branch
was not an officer of the United States and was not prohibited from serving
simultaneously as a member of Congress. Id. After the debate, the House soundly
rejected the resolution because many members believed the resolution banning
members of Congress from employment with the executive branch contained an
interpretation of the Incompatibility Clause which expanded the meaning of the
provision well beyond its plain terms. Id.

Shortly thereafter, in 1808, Congress passed a federal law which prohibited an
executive officer of the United States from entering into a contract of employment
with a member of Congress. Id. at 371. A version of that federal law remains in
effect. 18 U.S.C. § 431; 2 Op. U.S. Att’y Gen. 38 (1826) (explaining that the
federal law prohibited all contracts of employment between officers of the
executive branch and members of Congress).

Based on this historical evidence, it is quite instructive that, a mere 19 years
after the United States Constitution was drafted, many members of the House of
Representatives expressed the opinion that the Federal Constitution did not

prohibit a person who held a contract of employment with the executive branch
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from serving simultaneously as a member of Congress. This historical evidence

supports the legal conclusion that the doctrine of separation of powers does not

prohibit an officer of one department from being employed in another department.
(b) California Legislature.

As discussed previously, because the Framers of the Nevada Constitution
modeled its provisions on the California Constitution of 1849, it is appropriate to
consider historical evidence and case law from California when interpreting
analogous provisions of the Nevada Constitution. Harvey, 117 Nev. at 763. No
California court has ever held that the separation-of-powers provision in the
California Constitution prohibits a legislator from being a state executive branch
employee. Furthermore, the historical evidence from California establishes that
during California’s first 67 years of statehood, it was a common and accepted
practice for California Legislators to hold positions as state executive branch
employees until 1916, when the California Constitution was amended to expressly

prohibit legislators from being state executive branch employees. See Chenoweth

v. Chambers, 164 P. 428, 430 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1917) (explaining that the

constitutional amendment “was intended to reach a practice in state administration

of many years’ standing.”).

29
RA 000128



At the general election held in California on November 7, 1916, one of the
ballot questions was Amendment No. 6, which was an initiative measure to amend
Cal. Const. art. 4, § 19, to read as follows:

No senator or member of the assembly shall, during the term for
which he shall have been elected, hold or accept any office, trust, or
employment under this state; provided, that this provision shall not apply
to any office filled by election by the people.

1916 Cal. Stat. 54.2

In the weeks leading up to the 1916 general election, the proposed
constitutional amendment was described in several California newspapers. In an
article dated October 28, 1916, the San Francisco Chronicle reported that:

Some thirty-five or forty legislators in the employ of the State in
various capacities are anxiously awaiting the result of the November
election, for if the electorate should adopt amendment six on the ballot,
known as the ineligibility to office measure, State Controller John S.
Chambers probably will refuse to draw warrants in favor of legislators

then in the employ of the State.

Measure Alarms Legislators on ‘Side’ Payroll, S.F. Chron., Oct. 28, 1916, at 5

(Leg.’s Amicus Br. Exs. at 9).

2 As a result of subsequent constitutional amendments, the substance of the 1916
constitutional amendment is now found in Cal. Const. art. 4, § 13, which
provides: “A member of the Legislature may not, during the term for which the
member is elected, hold any office or employment under the State other than an
elective office.”
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In another article dated October 28, 1916, the Sacramento Bee reported that
many California Legislators were employed at that time by executive branch
agencies, including the State Lunacy Commission, State Motor Vehicles
Department, State Labor Commissioner, State Pharmacy Commission, State
Pharmacy Board, State Railroad Commission, Folsom State Prison and State

Inheritance Tax Commission. Chambers Studies Amendment No. 6: Proposal to

Make Leqgislature Members Ineligible to State Jobs is Perplexing, Sacramento Bee,

Oct. 28, 1916, at 9 (Leg.’s Amicus Br. Exs. at 11).

On the ballot at the 1916 general election, the ballot arguments relating to the
proposed constitutional amendment stated that “some of our most efficient officials
have been men holding appointments under the state, [while] at the same time

being members of the legislature.” Amendments to Constitution and Proposed

Statutes with Arguments Respecting the Same to be Submitted to the Electors of

the State of California at the General Election on Tuesday, November 7, 1916 (Cal.

State Archives 1916) (Leg.’s Amicus Br. Exs. at 13). Those arguments also stated
that:

Here and there the state, by reason of such a law, will actually suffer,
as it frequently happens that the most highly specialized man for work in
connection with a certain department of state is a member of the
legislature. There are instances of that sort today, where, by the
enactment of such a law, the state will lose the services of especially
qualified and conscientious officials.

* * *
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Another argument advanced by the proponents of this measure is that
members of the legislature who are appointed to state offices receive two
salaries, but the records will show that leaves of absence are invariably
obtained by such appointees during sessions of the legislature and the
actual time of the legislative session is generally about eighty days every
two years.

Shortly after the constitutional amendment was adopted, the California Court
of Appeal was called upon to interpret whether the amendment applied to
legislators whose terms began before the effective date of the amendment.

Chenoweth v. Chambers, 164 P. 428 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1917). The court held

that the amendment was intended to apply to those legislators. Id. at 434. In
reaching its holding, the court noted that the constitutional amendment “was
intended to reach a practice in state administration of many years’ standing and
which the people believed should be presently eradicated.” 1d. at 430.

Taken together, these historical accounts establish that before the California
Constitution was amended in 1916, California Legislators routinely held positions
as state executive branch employees. This is notable because, at that time, the
separation-of-powers provision in the California Constitution was nearly identical
to the separation-of-powers provision in the Nevada Constitution. Thus, the
historical evidence in California supports the legal conclusion that, in the absence

of a specific constitutional amendment expressly banning legislators from public
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employment, the separation-of-powers provision does not prohibit a legislator from
holding a position as a state executive branch employee.
(c) Nevada Legislature.
For many decades, state and local government employees have served

simultaneously as members of the Nevada Legislature. Affidavit of Guy L. Rocha,

Former Assistant Administrator for Archives and Records of the Division of State

Library and Archives of the Department of Cultural Affairs of the State of Nevada

(Apr. 29, 2004) (Leg.’s Amicus Br. Exs. at 1-3). Although there are no official
records specifically detailing the occupations of legislators who served in the
Legislature during the 1800s and early 1900s, the records that are available
indicate that state and local government employees have been serving in the
Legislature since at least 1903. 1d. The earliest known examples of local
government employees who served as members of the Legislature are Mark
Richards Averill, who was a member of the Assembly in 1903, and Ruth Averill,
who was a member of the Assembly in 1921. Id. The earliest known examples of
state executive branch employees who served as members of the Legislature are
August C. Frohlich, who was a member of the Assembly in 1931, and Harry E.
Hazard, who was a member of the Assembly in 1939. Id.

Based on research conducted by the Legislative Counsel Bureau covering the

period from 1967 to 2019, state and local government employees have served as
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members of the Legislature during each regular session convened over the past 50-

plus years. See Nevada Legislative Manual (LCB 1967-2019); Affidavit of

Donald O. Williams, Former Research Director of the Research Division of the

Leqislative Counsel Bureau of the State of Nevada (Apr. 28, 2004) (Leg.’s Amicus

Br. Exs. at 4-5).

Thus, the historical evidence from the Nevada Legislature supports the legal
conclusion that the separation-of-powers provision does not prohibit a legislator
from holding a position as a state executive branch employee or a local
government employee. Under well-established rules of constitutional construction,
this historical evidence represents a long-standing interpretation of the separation-
of-powers provision by the Legislature which must be given great weight.

When interpreting a constitutional provision, this Court “looks to the
Legislature’s contemporaneous actions in interpreting constitutional language to

carry out the intent of the framers of Nevada’s Constitution.” Halverson v. Miller,

124 Nev. 484, 488-89 (2008). Because the Legislature’s interpretation of a
constitutional provision is “likely reflective of the mindset of the framers,” such a
construction “is a safe guide to its proper interpretation and creates a strong
presumption that the interpretation was proper.” 1d. (internal quotation marks

omitted); Hendel v. Weaver, 77 Nev. 16, 20 (1961); State ex rel. Herr v. Laxalt, 84

Nev. 382, 387 (1968); Tam v. Colton, 94 Nev. 452, 458 (1978).
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Furthermore, when the Legislature’s construction is consistently followed
over a considerable period of time, that construction is treated as a long-standing
interpretation of the constitutional provision, and such an interpretation is given

great weight and deference by this Court, especially when the constitutional

provision involves legislative operations or procedures. State ex rel. Coffin v.

Howell, 26 Nev. 93, 104-05 (1901); State ex rel. Torreyson v. Grey, 21 Nev. 378,

387-90 (1893) (Bigelow, J., concurring); State ex rel. Cardwell v. Glenn, 18 Nev.

34, 43-46 (1883). As a result, “[a] long continued and contemporaneous
construction placed by the coordinate branch of government upon a matter of
procedure in such coordinate branch of government should be given great weight.”
Howell, 26 Nev. at 104.

The weight given to the Legislature’s construction of a constitutional
provision involving legislative operations or procedures is of particular force when
the meaning of the constitutional provision is subject to any uncertainty, ambiguity

or doubt. See, e.g., Nev. Mining Ass’n v. Erdoes, 117 Nev. 531, 539-40 (2001).

Under such circumstances, this Court has stated that “although the [interpretation]
of the legislature is not final, its decision upon this point is to be treated by the
courts with the consideration which is due to a co-ordinate department of the state

government, and in case of a reasonable doubt as to the meaning of the words, the
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construction given to them by the legislature ought to prevail.” Dayton Gold &

Silver Mining Co. v. Seawell, 11 Nev. 394, 399-400 (1876).

This Court has also stated that when the meaning of a constitutional provision
involving legislative operations or procedures is subject to any uncertainty,
ambiguity or doubt, the Legislature may rely on an opinion of LCB Legal which
interprets the constitutional provision, and “the Legislature is entitled to deference

in its counseled selection of this interpretation.” Nev. Mining Ass’n, 117 Nev. at

540. For example, when the meaning of the term “midnight Pacific standard
time,” as formerly used in the constitutional provision limiting legislative sessions
to 120 days, was subject to uncertainty, ambiguity and doubt following the 2001
regular session, this Court explained that the Legislature’s interpretation of the
constitutional provision was entitled to deference because “[i]n choosing this
interpretation, the Legislature acted on Legislative Counsel’s opinion that this is a
reasonable construction of the provision. We agree that it is, and the Legislature is
entitled to deference in its counseled selection of this interpretation.” 1d.

With regard to state and local government employees serving as legislators,
the Legislature has chosen to follow LCB Legal’s long-standing interpretation of
the separation-of-powers provision for decades, and it has acted on LCB Legal’s

opinion that this is a reasonable construction of the separation-of-powers provision.

36
RA 000135



As a result, “the Legislature is entitled to deference in its counseled selection of

this interpretation.” Nev. Mining Ass’n, 117 Nev. at 540.

Therefore, under the rules of constitutional construction, the Legislature’s
long-standing interpretation of the separation-of-powers provision “should be
given great weight.” Howell, 26 Nev. at 104 (“A long continued and
contemporaneous construction placed by the coordinate branch of government
upon a matter of procedure in such coordinate branch of government should be
given great weight.”). Furthermore, to the extent there is any ambiguity,
uncertainty or doubt concerning the interpretation of the separation-of-powers
provision, the interpretation given to it by the Legislature “ought to prevail.”

Dayton Gold & Silver Mining, 11 Nev. at 400 (“[I]n case of a reasonable doubt as

to the meaning of the words, the construction given to them by the legislature
ought to prevail.”).

(2) Case law from other jurisdictions.

Several courts from other jurisdictions have decided cases involving the legal
issue of whether a state constitutional separation-of-powers provision prohibits
legislators from being state or local government employees. However, the cases
from the other jurisdictions are in conflict on this issue.

In State ex rel. Barney v. Hawkins, 257 P. 411, 412 (Mont. 1927), an action

was brought to enjoin the state from paying Grant Reed his salary as an auditor for
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the state board of railroad commissioners while he served as a member of the state
legislature. The complaint alleged that Reed was violating the separation-of-
powers provision in the state constitution because he was occupying a position in
the executive branch of state government at the same time that he was serving as a
member of the state legislature. Id. at 412. At the time, the separation-of-powers
provision in the Montana Constitution provided that “no person or collection of
persons charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these
departments shall exercise any powers properly belonging to either of the others.”
Id. at 413. The complaint also alleged that Reed was violating section 7 of article
5 of the state constitution, which provided that “[n]Jo senator or representative
shall, during the term for which he shall have been elected, be appointed to any
civil office under the State.” Id. The Montana Supreme Court framed the issue it
was deciding as follows:
The only question for us to decide is—is the position of auditor, held
by Grant Reed, a civil office(?); for, if it be a civil office, he is holding it
unlawfully; and, if it be not a civil office, he is not an officer, but only an
employee, subject to the direction of others, and he has no power in
connection with his position, and is not exercising any powers belonging
to the executive or judicial department of the state government. In the

latter event, Article IV of the Constitution [separation of powers] is not
involved.

After considering voluminous case law concerning the definition of a “civil
office,” including cases from Nevada that will be discussed below, the Montana
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Supreme Court determined that Reed was not exercising any portion of the
sovereign power of state government when he was acting as an auditor for the
board of railroad commissioners and that, therefore, Reed did not occupy a civil
office. 1d. at 418. Rather, the court found that Reed was simply an employee
“holding a position of employment, terminable at the pleasure of the employing
power, the Board of Railroad Commissioners.” 1d. Thus, because Reed did not
occupy a civil office, the court concluded that he had “no powers properly
belonging to the judicial or executive department of the state government, for he is
wholly subject to the power of the board, and, having no powers, he can exercise
none; and, therefore, his appointment was not violative of Article IV of the
Constitution [separation of powers].” 1d.

The reasoning of the Montana Supreme Court was followed by the New

Mexico Court of Appeals in State ex rel. Stratton v. Roswell Ind. Schools, 806

P.2d 1085, 1094-95 (N.M. Ct. App. 1991). In Stratton, the Attorney General
argued that two members of the state legislature were violating the separation-of-
powers provision in the state constitution because the legislators also occupied
positions as a teacher and an administrator in local public school districts. Id. at
1088. At the time, the separation-of-powers provision in the New Mexico
Constitution was identical to the separation-of-powers provision interpreted by the

Montana Supreme Court in Hawkins: “no person or collection of persons charged
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with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments, shall
exercise any powers properly belonging to either of the others[.]” Id. at 1094.

Like the Montana Supreme Court, the New Mexico Court of Appeals
determined that a violation of the separation-of-powers provision could occur only
iIf the members of the legislature were invested in their positions as school teacher
and school administrator with sovereign power that properly belonged to another
branch of government. Id. Because only public officers exercised sovereign
power, the court determined that the separation-of-powers provision “applies
[only] to public officers, not employees, in the different branches of government.”
Id. at 1095. After considering the nature of the public school positions, the court
concluded that “[p]ublic school instructors and administrators are not ‘public
officials.” They do not establish policy for the local school districts or for the state
department of education.” Id. at 1094. Instead, “[a] school teacher employed by a
common school district is [an] ‘employee’ not [an] “officer’, and the relationship
between school teacher and school board is contractual only.” 1d. at 1095 (citing

Brown v. Bowling, 240 P.2d 846, 849 (N.M. 1952)). Therefore, because the

school teacher and school administrator were not public officers, but simply public
employees, the court held that they were not barred by the separation-of-powers

provision from being members of the legislature. Id.
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The Colorado Supreme Court has also adopted this view. Hudson v. Annear,

75 P.2d 587, 588-89 (Colo. 1938) (holding that a position as chief field deputy for
the state income tax department was not a civil office, but a position of public
employment, and that therefore a legislator could occupy such a position without

violating Colorado’s separation-of-powers provision). See also Jenkins v. Bishop,

589 P.2d 770, 771-72 (Utah 1978) (Crockett, J., concurring in a memorandum per
curiam opinion and arguing that Utah’s separation-of-powers provision would not

prohibit a legislator from also being a public school teacher); State v. Osloond, 805

P.2d 263, 264-67 (Wash. Ct. App. 1991) (holding that a legislator who served as a
judge pro tempore in a criminal case did not violate the principle of separation of
powers as recognized in Washington, which does not have an express separation-
of-powers provision in its constitution).

In stark contrast to the foregoing court decisions are several court decisions
from Indiana, Oregon and Nebraska. The court decisions from Indiana and Oregon
are especially notable because the language in the separation-of-powers provisions
of those states more closely resembles the language in Nevada’s separation-of-
powers provision.

In State ex rel. Black v. Burch, 80 N.E.2d 294 (Ind. 1948), actions were

brought to prevent the state from paying four members of the state legislature

salaries that they had earned while occupying positions with various state
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commissions and boards in the executive branch of government. After reviewing
the relevant statutes relating to these positions, the court held that the legislators’
positions in the executive branch “are not public offices, nor do they in their
respective positions, perform any official functions in carrying out their duties in
these respective jobs; they were acting merely as employees of the respective
commission or boards by whom they were hired.” 1d. at 299. In other words, “[i]n
performing their respective jobs, none of these [legislators] were vested with any
functions pertaining to sovereignty.” 1d. Having determined that the legislators
occupied positions of public employment, rather than public offices, the court’s
next task was to determine whether such public employment in another branch of
state government violated Indiana’s separation-of-powers provision, which
provided at the time that “no person, charged with official duties under one of
these departments[,] shall exercise any of the functions of another[.]” I1d. The
court framed the issue as follows: “[I]t now becomes necessary for this Court to
determine what is the meaning of the phrase ‘any of the functions of another,” as
set out in the above quoted section of the Constitution.” Id.

In interpreting the use of the term “functions,” the court noted that the term
“power” had been used instead of the term “functions” in the original draft of the
separation-of-powers provision. 1d. at 302. However, the term “functions” was

inserted in the final version of the provision that was adopted by the drafters of the
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constitution. 1d. The court then stated that “[i]t would seem to us that these two
words are interchangeable but, if there is any distinction, the term ‘functions’
would denote a broader field of activities than the word ‘power.”” 1d. The court

also quoted extensively from the decision in Saint v. Allen, 126 So. 548 (La.

1930), in which the Louisiana Supreme Court held that a member of the state
legislature was prohibited from being employed by the executive department of
state government pursuant to the separation-of-powers provision in the Louisiana
Constitution, which provided at the time that “[no] person or collection of persons
holding office in one of [the departments], shall exercise power properly belonging
to either of the others[.]” Saint, 126 So. at 550. In particular, the Louisiana
Supreme Court held that:
It is not necessary, to constitute a violation of the article, that a person
should hold office in two departments of government. It is sufficient if
he is an officer in one department and at the same time is employed to
perform duties, or exercise power, belonging to another department. The
words “exercise power,” speaking officially, mean perform duties or
functions.
Id. at 555.
Based on the Saint case and other court decisions, the Indiana Supreme Court
in Burch concluded that:
In view of the fact that it is obvious that the purpose of all these
separation of powers provisions of Federal and State Constitutions is to
rid each of the separate departments of government from any control or
influence by either of the other departments, and that this object can be

obtained only if § 1 of Art. 3 of the Indiana Constitution is read exactly
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as it is written, we are constrained to follow the New York and
Louisiana cases above cited. If persons charged with official duties in
one department may be employed to perform duties, official or
otherwise, in another department the door is opened to influence and
control by the employing department. We also think that these two cases
are logical in holding that an employee of an officer, even though he be
performing a duty not involving the exercise of sovereignty, may be and
IS, executing one of the functions of that public office, and this applies to
the cases before us.

80 N.E.2d at 302.
The reasoning of the Indiana Supreme Court was followed by the Oregon

Supreme Court in Monaghan v. School Dist. No. 1, 315 P.2d 797 (Or. 1957),

superseded by Or. Const. art. XV, §8. In that case, the court was asked “to
determine whether or not [a state legislator, Mr. Monaghan,] is eligible for
employment as a teacher in the public schools of this state while he holds a
position as a member of the [state] House of Representatives.” 1d. at 799. At that
time, the separation-of-powers provision in the Oregon Constitution provided that
“no person charged with official duties under one of these departments, shall
exercise any of the functions of another[.]” 1d. at 800. Mr. Monaghan argued that
the term “official duties” was synonymous with the term “functions,” and that
therefore the separation-of-powers provision applied only to a person holding a
public office in more than one department of state government and not to a person
merely occupying a position of public employment. Id. at 801. The court flatly

rejected this argument:
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It is not difficult to define the word “official duties.” As a general
rule, and as we think the phrase is used in the section of the constitution,
they are the duties or obligations imposed by law on a public officer. 67
C.J.S. Officers § 110, p. 396; 28 C.J.S. Duty, p. 597. There can be no
doubt that Mr. Monaghan, as a legislator, is “charged with official
duties.” But the exercise of the “functions” of a department of
government gives to the word “functions” a broader sweep and more
comprehensive meaning than “official duties.” It contemplates a wider
range of the exercise of functions including and beyond those which may
be comprehended in the “official duties” of any one officer.

It may appear to some as a construction of extreme precaution, but we
think that it expresses the considered judgment and deliberation of the
Oregon Convention to give greater force to the concepts of separation by
thus barring any official in one department of government of the
opportunity to serve any other department, even as an employee. Thus,
to use the language of O’Donoghue v. United States, supra [289 U.S.
516], in a sense, his role as a teacher subjugates the department of his
employment to the possibility of being “controlled by, or subjected,
directly or indirectly, to the coercive influence of” the other department
wherein he has official duties and vice versa. (Emphasis supplied.) In
the Burch case, supra [80 N.E.2d 294, 302], when considering the word
“functions” in its similar setting in the Indiana Constitution, the court
observed that the term “functions” denotes a broader field of activities
than the word “power.”

* * *

Our conclusion is that the word “functions” embodies a definite
meaning with no contradiction of the phrase “official duties,” that is, he
who exercises the functions of another department of government may
be either an official or an employee.

Id. at 802-04. Although acknowledging that a public school teacher was not a
public officer, the court concluded, nevertheless, that a public school teacher was a

public employee who was exercising one of the functions of the executive

department of state government. Id. at 804-06. Therefore, the court held that Mr.
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Monaghan could not be employed as a public school teacher while he held a

position as a member of the state legislature. 1d.; see also Jenkins, 589 P.2d at

773-77 (Ellett, C.J., concurring and dissenting in a memorandum per curiam
opinion and arguing that Utah’s separation-of-powers provision would prohibit a
legislator from also being a public school teacher).

After the decision in Monaghan, the Oregon Constitution was amended to
permit legislators to be employed by the State Board of Higher Education or to be

a member of any school board or an employee thereof. In re Sawyer, 594 P.2d

805, 808 & n.7 (Or. 1979). However, the amendment did not apply to other
branches of state government. 1d. In Sawyer, the Oregon Supreme Court was
asked whether the state’s separation-of-powers provision prohibited a judge from
being regularly employed as a part-time professor at a state-funded college. The
court answered in the affirmative, stating that:

It is true that Judge Sawyer is not a full-time teacher. In our opinion,
however, a part-time teacher regularly employed for compensation by a
state-funded college to perform the duties of a teacher also performs
“functions” of the executive department of government within the
meaning of Article Ill, 8 1, as construed by this court in Monaghan.

Id. at 809. The court noted, however, that “[w]e do not undertake to decide in this
case whether the same result would necessarily follow in the event that a judge

should occasionally, but not regularly, lecture at a state-funded college, but without

other responsibilities as a teacher.” Id. at 809 n.8.
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Finally, in State ex rel. Spire v. Conway, 472 N.W.2d 403 (Neb. 1991), the

Attorney General brought an action claiming that the separation-of-powers
provision of the Nebraska Constitution prohibited a person from occupying a
position as an assistant professor at a state-funded college while simultaneously
serving as a member of the state legislature. At the time, Nebraska’s separation-of-
powers provision provided that “no person or collection of persons being one of
these departments, shall exercise any power properly belonging to either of the
others.” 1d. at 404.

Unlike most other courts, the Nebraska Supreme Court determined that, under
certain circumstances, an assistant professor at a public college could be
considered to be holding a public office. 1d. at 406-07. However, despite this
determination, the court found that the public officer-public employee distinction
was not “determinative of the [separation-of-powers] issue now under
consideration, for article 11 does not speak in terms of officers or employees; it
speaks of persons ‘being one of’ the branches of government.” Id. at 408. Rather,
the court found that “[t]he unusual expression ‘being one of these departments’ is
not clear; accordingly, construction is necessary. One thing that is clear, however,
Is that ‘being one of these departments’ is not intended to be synonymous with

‘exercising any power of’ a branch.” 1d. at 409.
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After considering the text and history of the Nebraska Constitution, the court
determined that the provision should be construed to read, “no person or collection
of persons being [a member of] one of these departments.” 1d. at 412. Based on
this construction, the court held that the separation-of-powers provision “prohibits
one who exercises the power of one branch--that is, an officer in the broader sense
of the word--from being a member--that is, either an officer or employee--of
another branch.” 1d. The court then applied this construction to conclude that an
assistant professor at a state college is a member of the executive branch and that a
legislator, therefore, could not occupy such a position during his term in the
legislature. Id. at 414-16. Specifically, the court held that:

Although we have neither been directed to nor found any case explicitly
stating that the state colleges are part of the executive branch, there are
but three branches, and the state colleges clearly are not part of the
judicial or legislative branches.

* * *

The Board of Regents of the University of Nebraska performs a
function for the university which is identical to that of the Board of
Trustees of the Nebraska State Colleges. While the Board of Regents is
an “independent body charged with the power and responsibility to
manage and operate the University,” it is, nevertheless, an administrative
or executive agency of the state. As the regents are part of the executive
branch, so, too, are the trustees.

Since the Board of Trustees, which governs the state colleges, is part
of the executive branch, those who work for those colleges likewise are
members of that branch. Respondent, as an assistant professor at the
college, is thus a member of the executive branch within the meaning of
article 11.
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* * *

Respondent is therefore a member of one branch of government, the
executive, exercising the powers of another, the legislative, and, as a
consequence, is in violation of article 11 of the state Constitution.

Id. at 414-15 (citations omitted).

This Court should reject the reasoning of the courts of Indiana, Oregon and
Nebraska. Instead, this Court should follow the reasoning of the courts of
Montana, New Mexico and Colorado and conclude that the separation-of-powers
provision does not prohibit legislators from holding positions as state executive
branch employees or local government employees. This reasonable interpretation
of the separation-of-powers provision is supported by the text and structure of the
Nevada Constitution and by the concept of the “citizen-legislator,” which is a
concept that is the cornerstone of an effective, responsive and qualified part-time
legislative body.

(3) Interpretation of Nevada’s separation-of-powers provision.

It is a fundamental rule of constitutional construction that the Nevada

Constitution must be interpreted in its entirety and that each part of the

Constitution must be given effect. State ex rel. Herr v. Laxalt, 84 Nev. 382, 386

(1968). Therefore, the separation-of-powers provision in the Nevada Constitution
cannot be read in isolation, but rather must be construed in accordance with the
Nevada Constitution as a whole. Thus, the meaning of the phrases “no persons
charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these
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departments” and “shall exercise any functions, appertaining to either of the
others” cannot be based on a bare reading of the separation-of-powers provision
alone. Rather, these phrases must be read in light of the other parts of the Nevada
Constitution which specifically enumerate the persons who are to be charged with
exercising the powers and functions of state government. As stated by this Court:

[Article 3, Section 1] divides the state government into three great
departments, and directs that “no person charged with the exercise of
powers properly belonging to one of these departments shall exercise
any functions appertaining to either of the others, except in the cases
herein expressly directed or permitted.” As will be noticed, it is the state
government as created by the constitution which is divided into
departments. These departments are each charged by other parts of
the constitution with certain duties and functions, and it is to these
that the prohibition just quoted refers.

Sawyer v. Dooley, 21 Nev. 390, 396 (1893) (emphasis added).

According to this Court, the prohibition in Article 3, Section 1 applies only to
persons who are charged by other parts of the Nevada Constitution with exercising
powers or duties belonging to one of the three departments of state government. In
other words, for the purposes of the separation-of-powers provision, the officers
who are prohibited from exercising functions appertaining to another department
of state government are limited to those officers in the legislative, executive and
judicial departments who are expressly given powers and duties under the Nevada

Constitution.
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This construction of the separation-of-powers provision in the Nevada
Constitution is consistent with the Utah Supreme Court’s construction of an
identical separation-of-powers provision in section 1 of article V the Utah
Constitution. As to that provision, the Utah Supreme Court has held:

[T]he prohibition of section 1, is directed to a “person” charged with the
exercise of powers properly belonging to the “executive department.”
The Constitution further specifies in Article VII, Section 1, the persons
of whom the Executive Department shall consist. Thus it is the
“persons” specified in Article VII, Section 1, who are charged with the
exercise of powers belonging to the Executive Department, who are
prohibited from exercising any functions appertaining to the legislative
and judicial departments.

State v. Gallion, 572 P.2d 683, 687 (Utah 1977); accord Robinson v. State, 20 P.3d

396, 399-400 (Utah 2001).
Consequently, a constitutional officer is an officer of the legislative, executive
or judicial department who is “charged with the exercise of powers properly

belonging to one of these departments.” Nev. Const. art. 3, § 1; see also People v.

Provines, 34 Cal. 520 (1868). No other person may exercise the powers given to a
constitutional officer by the Nevada Constitution. As a result, when the Nevada
Constitution grants powers to a particular constitutional officer, “their exercise and
discharge by any other officer or department are forbidden by a necessary and
unavoidable implication. Every positive delegation of power to one officer or
department implies a negation of its exercise by any other officer, department, or

person.” King v. Bd. of Regents, 65 Nev. 533, 556 (1948) (quoting State ex rel.
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Crawford v. Hastings, 10 Wis. 525, 531 (1860)). Thus, the constitutional powers

of each department may be exercised only by the constitutional officers from that
department to whom the powers have been assigned.

Even though it is only the constitutional officers of each department who may
exercise the constitutional powers given to that department, the Framers realized
that each department would also be charged with the exercise of certain
nonconstitutional functions. Accordingly, the Framers provided for the creation by
statute of nonconstitutional officers who could be charged by the Legislature with
the exercise of nonconstitutional functions. See Nev. Const. art. 15, 88 2, 3, 10
and 11. As observed by this Court:

[T]he framers of the constitution decided for themselves that the officers

named [in the constitution] were necessary and should be elected by the

people; but they left it to the legislature to decide as to the necessity of
additional ones, whether state, county, or township. ... The duty of
deciding as to the necessity of any office, other than those named in the

constitution, is placed upon the legislature[.]

State ex rel. Perry v. Arrington, 18 Nev. 412, 417-18 (1884). As a result, the

Nevada Constitution recognizes two distinct types of offices, “one which is created
by the constitution itself, and the other which is created by statute.” Douglass, 33

Nev. at 93 (quoting People v. Bollam, 54 N.E. 1032, 1033 (IlI. 1899)).

Like the framers of other state constitutions, the Framers of the Nevada
Constitution could have simply stated that a constitutional officer shall not exercise
any “powers” appertaining to another department of state government. However,
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the Framers of the Nevada Constitution provided that a constitutional officer shall
not exercise any “functions” appertaining to another department of state
government. The Framers used the term “functions” because they realized that, in
each department of state government, the functions of the department would be
performed by constitutional officers and by nonconstitutional officers. Thus, had
the Framers used only the term “powers” in Article 3, Section 1, the separation-of-
powers provision would have been too restrictive in its meaning, for it may have
been construed simply to mean that a constitutional officer in one department
could not exercise the powers entrusted to the constitutional officers in another
department. To avoid this restrictive construction, the Framers used the term
“functions” to ensure that a constitutional officer in one department could not
perform the sovereign functions entrusted to both constitutional officers and
nonconstitutional officers in another department.

Therefore, by using the term “functions,” the Framers intended to prohibit a
constitutional officer in one department from holding constitutional offices or
nonconstitutional offices in another department, because persons holding
constitutional or nonconstitutional offices in another department exercise the
sovereign functions of state government. Because public employees do not
exercise the sovereign functions of state government, the Framers did not intend to

prohibit a constitutional officer from holding a position of public employment in
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another department of state government. This conclusion is based on a well-
established body of case law which holds that public officers are the only persons
who exercise the sovereign functions of state government and that public
employees do not exercise such sovereign functions.

In State ex rel. Kendall v. Cole, 38 Nev. 215 (1915), the Nevada Supreme

Court discussed extensively the attributes of a public office, and the court also
cited numerous cases that had been decided in other jurisdictions well before the

Nevada Constitution was drafted in 1864. See Bradford v. Justices of Inferior Ct.,

33 Ga. 332 (1862); Shelby v. Alcorn, 36 Miss. 273 (1858); see also Annotation,

Offices Within Constitutional or Statutory Provisions Against Holding Two

Offices, 1917A L.R.A. 231 (1917). From these cases, this Court concluded that
the single most important characteristic of a public office is that the person who
holds such a position is “clothed with some portion of the sovereign functions of

government.” Cole, 38 Nev. at 229 (quoting Attorney-General v. McCaughey, 43

A. 646 (R.1. 1899)). In later cases, this Court expressed a similar view:

The nature of a public office as distinguished from mere employment is
the subject of a considerable body of authority, and many criteria of
determination are suggested by the courts. Upon one point at least the
authorities uniformly appear to concur. A public office is
distinguishable from other forms of employment in that its holder has by
the sovereign been invested with some portion of the sovereign functions
of government.
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State ex rel. Mathews v. Murray, 70 Nev. 116, 120-21 (1953) (citation omitted).

Simply put, “the sovereign function of government is not delegated to a mere

employee.” Eads v. City of Boulder City, 94 Nev. 735, 737 (1978).

Thus, in each department of state government, only two types of persons are
empowered to exercise the sovereign functions of that department, those who hold
constitutional offices and those who hold nonconstitutional offices. This is how
the Framers of the Nevada Constitution understood the structure and organizational
framework of each department of state government, and this is why the Framers
used the word “functions” in Article 3, Section 1—to prohibit a constitutional
officer in one department of state government from holding any other public office
that was empowered, either by the constitution or statute, to exercise the sovereign
functions of another department of state government. Because public employees
do not exercise the sovereign functions of state government, a broader construction
of the term “functions” to include public employees would not be consistent with
the manner in which the sovereign functions of government are exercised in
Nevada.

Moreover, a broader construction of the term “functions” to include public
employees would run counter to “the constituency concept of our legislature in this
state, which can accurately be described as a citizens’ legislature.” Stratton, 806

P.2d at 1093. The Framers of the Nevada Constitution realized that “[i]n a
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sparsely populated state . . . it would prove difficult, if not impossible, to have a
conflict-free legislature.” Id. In addition, any potential conflicts of interests
experienced by a legislator who is also a public employee in another branch of
state government are no greater than those conflicts experienced by other members
of the Legislature. As stated by Justice Crockett of the Utah Supreme Court:

In our democratic system, the legislature is intended to represent the
people: that is, to be made up from the general public representing a
wide spectrum of the citizenry. It is not to be doubted that legislators
from the ranks of education are affected by the interests of that calling.

But all other legislators also have interests. No one lives in a vacuum.
Jenkins, 589 P.2d at 771 (Crockett, J., concurring).

Finally, it is clear that the Framers intended the Nevada Legislature to be a
part-time legislative body. In particular, the Framers provided for biennial
legislative sessions in Article 4, Section 2 of the Nevada Constitution, and they
originally limited those biennial sessions to 60 days in Article 4, Section 29.
Although Article 4, Section 29 was repealed in 1958, the fact that the citizens of
Nevada voted in 1998 to limit biennial sessions to 120 days is a clear indication
that the citizens of Nevada, like the Framers, want the Nevada Legislature to be a
part-time legislative body.

The economic reality of a part-time Legislature is that most legislators must

continue to be employed in other occupations on a full-time or part-time basis

during their terms of legislative service. This is as true today as it was when the
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Nevada Constitution was originally adopted. Given this economic reality, it is
likely that the Framers fully expected that public employees, like other citizens,
would be members of the Legislature, especially since some of the most qualified
and dedicated citizens of the community often occupy positions of government
employment. As stated by Chief Justice Hastings of the Nebraska Supreme Court
in his dissent in Conway:

A senatorial position in the Nebraska Legislature is a part-time
position. Therefore, it is not uncommon for senators to have additional
sources of income and careers. An uncompromising interpretation of the
separation of powers would inhibit the ability of a part-time legislature
to attract qualified members.

472 N.W.2d at 417 (Hastings, C.J., dissenting). Therefore, construing the term
“functions” in Article 3, Section 1 to prohibit a member of the Nevada Legislature
from occupying a position of public employment would not comport with the
concept of the “citizen-legislator” that was undoubtedly envisioned by the Framers
of the Nevada Constitution.

Based on this construction of the separation-of-powers provision, if a
legislator holds another position in state government, the deciding issue under the
Nevada Constitution should be whether the other position is a public office or a
position of public employment. If the other position is a public office, then the

legislator would be prohibited by the separation-of-powers provision from holding

the public office. However, if the other position is merely a position of public
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employment, then the legislator would not be prohibited by the separation-of-
powers provision from holding the position of public employment.
As discussed previously, this Court has addressed the distinction between a

public officer and a public employee on many occasions. See State ex rel. Kendall

v. Cole, 38 Nev. 215 (1915); State ex rel. Mathews v. Murray, 70 Nev. 116 (1953);

Mullen v. Clark Cnty., 89 Nev. 308 (1973); Eads v. City of Boulder City, 94 Nev.

735, 737 (1978). As recently as 2013, this Court reaffirmed that “as is clear from
our jurisprudence, officers are fundamentally different from employees.” City of

Sparks v. Sparks Mun. Ct., 129 Nev. 348, 361 (2013). In one of its more recent

cases on the issue, this Court restated the two fundamental principles that

distinguish a public officer from a public employee. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v.

DR Partners, 117 Nev. 195, 200-06 (2001) (holding that, for the purposes of the

Open Meeting Law, the position of community college president is not a public
office).

The first fundamental principle is that a public officer must serve in a position
created by law, not one created by mere administrative authority and discretion.
Id. The second fundamental principle is that the duties of a public officer must be
fixed by law and must involve an exercise of the sovereign functions of the state,
such as formulating state policy. Id. Both fundamental principles must be satisfied

before a person is deemed a public officer. See Mullen v. Clark Cnty., 89 Nev.
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308, 311 (1973). Thus, if a position is created by mere administrative authority
and discretion or if the person serving in the position is subordinate and
responsible to higher-ranking policymakers, the person is not a public officer but is

simply a public employee. These fundamental principles are best illustrated by the

cases of State ex rel. Mathews v. Murray, 70 Nev. 116 (1953), and Univ. & Cmty.

Coll. Sys. v. DR Partners, 117 Nev. 195 (2001).

In Mathews, the defendant accepted the position of Director of the Drivers
License Division of the Public Service Commission of Nevada. 70 Nev. at 120.
The Attorney General brought an original action in quo warranto in this Court to
oust the defendant from that position because when the defendant accepted his
position in the executive branch he was also serving as a State Senator. Id. The
Attorney General argued that the defendant acted in violation of the separation-of-
powers provision of the Nevada Constitution. 1d. Before this Court could
determine the constitutional issue, it needed to have jurisdiction over the original
action in quo warranto. ld. Because an original action in quo warranto could lie
only if the defendant’s position in the executive branch was a public office, the
issue before this Court was whether the position of Director of the Drivers License
Division was a public office or a position of public employment. 1d. This Court

held that the Director’s position was a position of public employment, not a public
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office, and thus this Court dismissed the original action for lack of jurisdiction
without reaching the constitutional issue. Id. at 124.

In concluding that the Director’s position was a position of public
employment, this Court reviewed the statutes controlling the state department
under which the Drivers License Division operated. Id. at 122. This Court found
that the position of Director of the Drivers License Division was created by
administrative authority and discretion, not by statute, and that the position was
wholly subordinate and responsible to the administrator of the department. Id. at
122-23. In this regard, this Court stated:

Nowhere in either act is any reference made to the “drivers license
division” of the department or to a director thereof. Nowhere are duties
Imposed or authority granted save to the department and to its
administrator. It appears clear that the position of director was created
not by the act but by the administrator and may as easily by him be
discontinued or destroyed. It appears clear that the duties of the position
are fixed not by law but by the administrator and may as easily by him
be modified from time to time. No tenure attaches to the position save
as may be fixed from time to time by the administrator. The director,
then, is wholly subordinate and responsible to the administrator. It
cannot, then, be said that that position has been created by law; or that
the duties which attach to it have been prescribed by law; or that, subject
only to the provisions of law, the holder of such position is independent
in his exercise of such duties. It cannot, then, be said that he has been
invested with any portion of the sovereign functions of the government.

Id. at 122-23.
In DR Partners, this Court was asked to determine whether the position of

community college president was a public office for the purposes of the Open
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Meeting Law, which is codified in chapter 241 of NRS. Although the Open
Meeting Law does not define the term “public office” or “public officer,” this
Court found that the definition of “public officer” in chapter 281 of NRS was
applicable because “[t]he Legislature’s statutory definition of a ‘public officer’

incorporates the fundamental criteria we applied in Mathews and Kendall, and is in

harmony with those cases, as we subsequently confirmed in Mullen v. Clark

County.” 117 Nev. at 201.

When this Court applied the fundamental criteria from Mathews and Kendall

and the statutory definition from chapter 281 of NRS to the position of community
college president, this Court concluded that the position of community college

president was not a public office. DR Partners, 117 Nev. at 202-06. In reaching

this conclusion, this Court first found that the position of community college
president is not created by the Nevada Constitution or statute, but is created by
administrative authority and discretion of the Board of Regents. Id. Second, this
Court found that a community college president does not exercise any of the
sovereign functions of the state. 1d. Instead, a community college president is
wholly subordinate to the Board of Regents and simply implements policies made
by higher-ranking state officials. 1d. As explained by this Court:

The community college president holds an important position, but the

sovereign functions of higher education repose in the Board of Regents,

and to a lesser degree in the chancellor, and not at all in the community

college president.
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* * *

Because the president is wholly subordinate and responsible to the

Board, and can only implement policies established by the Board, we

conclude that the community college president does not meet the

statutory requisites of a public officer set forth in NRS 281.005(1)(b).
Id. at 205-06.

Accordingly, state executive branch employees and local government
employees are not public officers because they do not exercise any sovereign
functions appertaining to the executive branch of state government. As a result,
the separation-of-powers provision does not prohibit legislators from holding
positions of public employment because persons who hold such positions of public
employment do not exercise any sovereign functions appertaining to the state
executive branch. Therefore, even if the separation-of-powers provision is
interpreted to apply to local governments, the provision still would not prohibit
legislators from holding positions of public employment as deputy district
attorneys with county governments because deputy district attorneys are county
employees who do not exercise sovereign functions belonging to the state

executive branch when they participate in criminal prosecutions.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Legislature asks this Court to issue a writ to
Respondents, the Eighth Judicial District Court and the Honorable Richard Scotti,

District Judge, reversing and vacating the district court’s decision in these cases
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because the decision was based on a clearly erroneous interpretation and
application of constitutional and statutory law.
DATED: This _16th _day of February, 2021.

By: _/s/ Kevin C. Powers
KEVIN C. POWERS
General Counsel
Nevada Bar No. 6781
LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU, LEGAL DIVISION
401 S. Carson St.
Carson City, NV 89701
Tel: (775) 684-6830; Fax: (775) 684-6761
Email: kpowers@Icb.state.nv.us
Attorneys for Legislature of the State of Nevada
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

1. We hereby certify that this amicus curiae brief complies with the
formatting requirements of NRAP 21(d), NRAP 32(a)(4) and NRAP 32(c)(2), the
typeface requirements of NRAP 32(a)(5) and the type style requirements of
NRAP 32(a)(6) because this brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced
typeface using Microsoft Office Word 2010 in 14-point font and Times New
Roman type.

2. We hereby certify that this amicus curiae brief complies with the type-
volume limitations of NRAP 21(d) and NRAP 32(a)(7) because, excluding the
parts of this brief exempted by NRAP 32(a)(7)(C), this brief is proportionately
spaced, has a typeface of 14 points or more, and contains _15,076 _words, which
exceeds the type-volume limitation of 7,000 words. However, we certify that a
motion to exceed the type-volume limitation for this brief will be filed
pursuant to NRAP 32(a)(7)(D).

3.  We hereby certify that we have read this amicus curiae brief, and to the
best of our knowledge, information and belief, it is not frivolous or interposed for
any improper purpose. We further certify that this brief complies with all
applicable Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, in particular NRAP 28(e)(1),
which requires every assertion in this brief regarding matters in the record to be

supported by a reference to the page and volume number, if any, of the transcript
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or appendix where the matter relied on is to be found. We understand that we may
be subject to sanctions in the event that this brief is not in conformity with the
requirements of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure.

DATED: This _16th _day of February, 2021.

By: _/s/ Kevin C. Powers
KEVIN C. POWERS
General Counsel
Nevada Bar No. 6781
LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU, LEGAL DIVISION
401 S. Carson St.
Carson City, NV 89701
Tel: (775) 684-6830; Fax: (775) 684-6761
Email: kpowers@Ich.state.nv.us
Attorneys for Legislature of the State of Nevada
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’ .- AFFIDAVIT OF GUY L. ROCHA
ASSISTANT ADMINISTRATOR FOR ARCHIVES AND RECORDS
DIVISION OF STATE LIBRARY AND ARCHIVES
DEPARTMENT OF CULTURAL AFFAIRS

STATE OF NEVADA )
CARSON CITY ; .

1, Guy L. Rocha, being first duly sworn, state that I have personal knowledge and am competent
to testify to the following:

1. 1 am the Assistant Administrator for Archives and Records of the Division of State Library
and Archives of the Department of Cultural Affairs of the State of Nevada. |

2. Based on my research, I have not fdund any official récords specifically detailing the
occupations of state legislators who served in the Nevada Legislature during the 1800s and early
1900s. Information concerning the occupations of state legislators who served in the Nevada
Legislature duririg this pe’rio’d must be obtained from Nevada newspapers that are indexed and from
other historical recérds.

3. The earliest known example that I have been able to find of a state legislator who held a
position as a state executive department employee while serving simﬁltaneously as a member of the

Nevada Legislature is Assemblyman August C. Frohlich. Mr. Frohlich was elected to the Nevada

‘Assembly in .Novémber 1930. 'During the 1931 Legislative Session, Mr. Frohlich operated the

Commercial Soap Company in Reno. After the 1931 Legislative Session, Mr. Frohlich sold his
interest in the _Commercial Soap Company. During his legislative term, Mr. Frohlich was
apﬁointéd on February 26, 1932, as a purchasing agent for the State Mental Hospital located in
Sparks. The appointment was made by Dr. George R. Smith, the Superintendent of the State
Mental Hospital. - Mr. Frohlich héld his position of state employment until October 1, 1932. I have

not found any evidence in Nevada newspapers of an official resignation by Mr. Frohlich from his
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seat in the Nevada Assembly before or after Mr. Frohlich a:wce_pted his position with the State
Mental Hospital. During his legislative term, Mr Frohlich also was a local candidate in Reno for a
seat on the School District Board of Trustees, but he lost at the election held on April 2, 1932. At
the general election held on November 8, 1932, Mr. Frohlich was again a local candidate in Reno,
and this time he was elected to the Office of Justice of the Peace. ’

4. Another early example that I have been able to find of a state legislator who held a position
as a state executive department employee while _scfving simultaneously as a member of the Nevada
Legislature is Assemblyman Harry E. “Hap” Hazard. Mr. Hazard was elected to the Nevada
Assembly in November 1938 while working for the Las Vegas Reﬁew—]ouﬁal. After the 1939
Legislative Session, Mr. Hazard was appointed by the State Tax Commission as the supervisor of
the Liquor Division of the State Tax Commission effective April 16, 1939. Mr. Hazard relocated
from Las Vegas to Carson City where Mr. Hazard worked in the Executive Departmenf during the
remainder of his legislative term. I have not found any evidence in Nevada newspapers of an
official resignation by Mr. Hazard from his seat in the Nevada Assembly before or after Mr.
Hazard accepted his position with the State Tax Commission. Mr. Hazard was not a member of the
Nevada Legislature during the 1941, 1943 and 1945 Legislative Sessions. In 1946, Mr. Hazard
was again elected to the Névada Assembly. During the 1947 Legislative Session, Mr. Hazard
served as the Speaker of the Assembly. While a member of the 1947 Legislature, Mr. Hazard also
served as a member of the Board of the Clark County Housing Authority, a local government
agency.

5. The earliest known example that I have been able to find of a state legislator who held a
position as a local government employee while serving simultaneously as a member of the Nevada
Legislature is Assemblyman Mark Richards Averill. Mr. Averill served in the Nevada Assembly

during the 1903 Legislative Session, and Mr. Averill also served as the clerk of a local school
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district during his legislative term. Another early exarriple is Mr. Averill’s daughter, Ruth Averill,
who served in the Nevada Assembly during the 1921 Legislative Session. Ruth Averill was a

primary school teacher during her legislative term.

DATED this ;7 _ day of April, 2004,

GUY L7ROCHA

Subscribed and sworn to before me thxs é _ day of April, 2004.

Notary Pubhc mn and for the State of Nevada

AT Lo I A A A S
KAREN KADE

H  NOTARY PUBLIC - NEVADA
ie®/ Apct. Recorded in CARSON CITY
NoS3zzr23 My Appt. Exp. ‘Jla.n 10, 2008
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AFFIDAVIT OF DONALD O. WILLIAMS
- | RESEARCH DIRECTOR
RESEARCH DIVISION OF THE LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU

STATE OF NEVADA )
CARSON CITY ; .

I, Donald O. William‘s, being first duly sworn, state that I have personal knowledge and am
competent to testify to the following:

1. 1am the Research Director of the Research Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau of
the State of Nevada.

2. Based on research conducted by the Resea;ch Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau,
bééinn_ing with the 1967 Session of the Nevada Legislature, public employees have served as
members of the Nevada Legislature during each Regular Session convened over the past 37 years.
The following table indicates the number of state legislators who held positions as public

employees while serving simultaneously as members of the Nevada Legislatt_lre during each

Regular Session convened since 1967:

Year of Legislative Session: Number of state legislators who held
positions as public employees:
1967 2
1969 1
1971 2
_ 1973 7
D 1975 4 _
1977 7 V
1979 6
1981 5
1983 7
1985 9
1987 12
1989 13
1991 13
1993 12
1995 10
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~Year of Legislative Session:

Number of state legislators who held

| positions as public employees:

! —19F97 — L

12
) 1999 14
- 2001 13 ]
N 2003 14

0 _dh
DATED this__2 € day of April, 2004.

DONALD O. WILLIAMS

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 23 day of April, 2004.

NdtargPublic in ahd for the State of'Ne;va;ia'

o A o o I I A ST I WA
EVELLYN BENTON
Y NOTARY FUBLIC - NEVADA
g§2#/ Appt. Racorded in CARSON CITY
Nog2.78243.3 MY Appt. Exp. Dec 12, 2006
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OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

DEAN HELLER March 25, 2004
Secretsry of Suto

100 N. Curson Street

Carson City, Nevada 89701

On March 1, 2004, you jssned an opinion to my office, wherein you found fhat Artiele 3,
Section 1 of he Nevada Constitution bers any employee from serving in the executive branch of
g‘m?ﬁwmasama&mmu@m Based on
hat opiion, I bereby request that, as sy counsed, ing an action on my behalf to compel
MWbmmmmxaammmmm
employees from simnltansously serving in the Legislature,

governmment employees. Based on your opinion, it appears that many or all of these menbers
myhmhmgﬂnmdmsdoumwmhdmﬁam&m
Because the Legislature has delegated o me the power under NRS 293.124 1o eafiarce all “state
ﬂndﬁdaslhwsnlﬂingb%mhﬂﬁ%’lheﬁcwﬂaﬂﬁnhﬂhﬂhbm
the Legislature to comped its members to serve cinsistent with fhe Constitmtion In sadition, & is
muhm«mbwhmmums.mmmmm

&wmwlh&nhtmmnwmmymhmofmm

The first option wotld be o petition the Nevads Supreme Court for & writ of mardsmuvs to
mumm»mmmmammuw
,@smofumuzsmm-wmbewpmwmwm
Tmgeoperly serving in dual positions, incinding docal positions if the court so determines that dual
sexvice involving Jocal govermacnt- employees in prohibited. A second option woul be to
Procced under NRS 29.010 0 reach agreemvent with the Legislature thet a controversy cxists sind
: requenthcuevadaSanm?sminginmmmasopﬁmm ‘Becase time it
d&mw&hn@@ﬂmﬁmﬂﬂnmflmﬁ&mmlymm
mﬂowﬁmm able to obtain the Legislature®s agreement by March 31, 2004 10 proceed

VISIOTEOIND ¥ DAX L1755} BRG-5TIT

RA @OCD6



mm—— M.

W"EE‘?&“A W N2 P P ‘ -
o TR SR T e @ 50

March 25, 2004
Page 2

Because tis matter involves conpliznce with the provisions of the Nevada Constitution,
and &5 set forth above we have little time for appeals or other post judgment relief, I am
requestiog you bring the sbove refivenced petition in the Nevads Supreme Court; if you
determine an altcrmste legal stratogy is appropeiate, please consult with me before procceding on
my behalf. Indeed, as we discussed, the Nevada Supreme Court has original jurisdiction to issue
writs of mandamus pursuant to the Nevada Constitution Article 6, Scetion 4 as well as Nevada
Reviscd Statutes Section 34.150, et seq.

Pleaso do sot bositase 0 contact me if you bave any questions or sequirc additional |

DEAN HELLER
Secretary of Stato

Voo GomDrue ¢ BAX 1775} B8A-NTT7 OOO’)?
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